WCSR Advice 2023-19

SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE REACH (WCSR)

TOWARDS A MORE EFFECTIVE REACH IN PROTECTING HUMAN HEALTH AND THE ENVIRONMENT



www.reachinbelgium.be

WCSR Advice 2023-19

CONTENTS

CONTEXT		
1. WHY SHOULD THE REACH PROCEDURE BE IMPROVED		
1.1. HIGH AND OFTEN INCREASING INCIDENCE OR PREVALENCE OF "DISEASES OF CIVILIZATION" 3		
1.2. MAN-MADE PRODUCTS CONTRIBUTE SUBSTANTIALLY TO THE RISK OF "DISEASES OF CIVILIZATION" 3		
2. How should the REACH procedure be improved		
2.1. INDEPENDENT TOXICITY TESTING		
2.2. FOLLOW-UP OF SUBSTANCES AFTER PUTTING ON THE MARKET		
2.3. INCREASE AMOUNT AND TYPES OF TESTING		
2.4. NEED FOR FASTER DECISION MAKING UNDER THE CURRENT REACH PROCESS		
3. REMEDIATION OF SHORTCOMINGS		
REFERENCES		
ANNEX 1 – THE ISSUE: HIGH AND OFTEN INCREASING INCIDENCE OR PREVALENCE OF "DISEASES OF CIVILIZATION	,"	
ANNEX 1 REFERENCES		
Annex 2 – Man-made products and pollutants, in particular carcinogenic agents, mutagenic age	ENTS	
AND ENDOCRINE DISRUPTORS, CONTRIBUTE SUBSTANTIALLY TO THE RISK OF DISEASES OF CIVILIZATION 16		
1. NUMEROUS SUBSTANCES ARE MUTAGENIC, CARCINOGENIC OR ENDOCRINE DISRUPTORS		
2. CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE (CVD)		
3. DIABETES		
4. OBESITY		
5. FEMALE REPRODUCTIVE DYSFUNCTION		
6. MALE REPRODUCTIVE DYSFUNCTION		
7. DISORDERS OF NEURODEVELOPMENT AND COGNITION		
8. IMMUNE SYSTEM RELATED DISEASES		
8.1. ENDOCRINE DISRUPTION, RISK OF ASTHMA, ALLERGIES AND SOME AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES		
8.2. REACTIVE SUBSTANCES DIRECTLY INTERFERING WITH IMMUNOLOGICAL REACTIONS		
9. CANCER		
9.1. A small increase in mutation rate leads to important increase in cancer risk		
9.2. CARCINOGENESIS ALSO RESTS ON CHANGES IN GENE EXPRESSION		
9.3. ENDOCRINE DISRUPTING AGENTS AND CANCER		
9.4. RISK OF CANCER INCREASES STRONGLY WITH DURATION OF EXPOSURE		
9.5. EPIDEMIOLOGY POINTS TO LIFE STYLE AND OCCUPATIONAL OR ENVIRONMENTAL AGENTS		
ANNEX 2 REFERENCES		
ANNEX 3 – EFFECTS THAT ARE NOT SUFFICIENTLY COVERED BY CLASSICAL TOXICOLOGICAL TESTS		
1. EFFECTS OF REAL LIFE EXPOSURES, LOW DOSE AND NON-MONOTONIC EFFECTS		

WCSR Advice 2023-19 |

1.1.	WHAT IS MEANT BY "LOW DOSE"	
1.2.	EVIDENCE FOR LOW DOSE EFFECTS OF ENDOCRINE DISRUPTING AGENTS	
1.3.	NON-MONOTONIC DOSE -EFFECT RELATIONSHIPS	
1.4.	LOW DOSE EFFECTS OF GENOTOXIC AGENTS	
1.5.	EFFECTS ON GENE EXPRESSION OF REAL LIFE EXPOSURES	
2. Ex	XPOSURES IN EARLY LIFE ARE OF CRITICAL IMPORTANCE	
3. C	OMPLEX MIXTURES AND SYNERGISTIC EFFECTS	
4. EI	PIGENETIC AND TRANSGENERATIONAL EFFECTS	
5. LI	GAND-SPECIFIC EFFECTS	
ANNEX	3 References	

Members of the Scientific Committee	45
Conflict of interest	45
Rapporteur	45
Adoption of the advice	46
Legal framework of the advice	46
Disclaimer	46

Context

This paper is an advice by the Belgian Scientific REACH Committee (WCSR), which is a group of experts that offers advice on the dangers and risks of chemical substances to public health and the environment, in particular within the context of the implementation of REACH. This paper presents the expert opinion of the committee on the current functioning of REACH, as well as why and how REACH could improve in the future.

1. Why should the REACH procedure be improved

1.1. High and often increasing incidence or prevalence of "diseases of civilization"

In the last hundred years the socioeconomic conditions and the availability of many food items have improved markedly in the western countries, and the progress in medical science and techniques has allowed to limit the impact of diseases on mortality and severe morbidity. However, although life expectancy has risen, the incidence and prevalence of many diseases of civilization has increased after correction for ageing. The incidence of cancer and the prevalence of diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, the metabolic syndrome, obesity, allergies and problems with fertility have increased whereas the percentage of people free of chronic diseases that can be related to chemicals has, at least until recently, not risen. Also, the prevalence of neurodegenerative diseases and neurodevelopmental disorders has increased during the past decades and there are indications that, since more than a decade, cognitive capacities have decreased in some Western countries whereas they had increased over previous decades. See annex 1 for a comprehensive text and references.

1.2. Man-made products contribute substantially to the risk of "diseases of civilization"

Growing evidence from epidemiological and molecular-epidemiological studies indicates that pollutants and man-made products contribute substantially to the risk of diseases of civilization. This has been substantiated for cancer, cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, reproductive disorders such as early puberty, male and female infertility, diabetes, obesity, neurodegenerative diseases, disorders of neurodevelopment and cognition and immune system related diseases. According to Global Burden of Disease study, all forms of pollution combined were responsible in 2015 for 21 % of all deaths from cardiovascular disease, 26 % of deaths due to ischaemic heart disease, 23 % of deaths due to stroke, 51 % of deaths due to chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and 43 % of deaths due to lung cancer. See annex 2 for a comprehensive text and references. Annex 3 entails much data and references on biological and health effects of real life low dose exposures.

Modern science and technology, and the use of 'next generation' weight-of-evidence assessment approaches, are not embedded in the regulation of chemicals - Over the past decades, many new technologies and methods have become available that allow to collect data on different toxicological endpoints in a faster way by using less or even no animals. However, the current regulatory framework is not compatible with the use of data generated via these methodologies as it is focused on collecting data for specific endpoints, mainly via traditional (in vivo) testing and depending on tonnage level. In order to better integrate these modern science and technologies, new regulatory frameworks are needed. Within this context, as suggested by Cronin et al. (2021) and Fentem et al. (2021), regulatory frameworks that integrate biological

activity and kinetics from different sources and comparing the outputs with estimates of exposure could be of interest.

2. How should the REACH procedure be improved

2.1. Independent toxicity testing

In the current regulatory framework for REACH, the type and number of toxicological tests that needs to be performed is driven by the tonnage level. Although the tonnage level is an indirect indication of the exposure, the limitation with this approach is that it can lead to the generation of data which is not appropriate or insufficient to evaluate the hazards/risks most relevant for the proposed use. There are limitations on the number of toxicological tests performed on chemicals. Previous reviews of submitted registrations dossiers showed insufficient characterization/description of the uncertainties associated with the hazard and risk assessments, and also issues with what data was chosen to report (1). The EU Regulation on Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH) made the industry in charge of commissioning the tests to testing laboratories. However, due to conflicts of interests, this approach is highly susceptible to bias (2). There is a lack of control with third parties who only have limited access to the data and a lack of control by authorities with limited resources to check compliance to the REACH regulation (2).

Each decision a scientist makes throughout the testing process could influence the final result of the test (3). Funding bias happens when scientists make choices to maximise the chance of an output that is wished for by the party funding the test or research (3). The scientist performing the testing can also be biased by institutional demands (4). Several behind-the-scenes practices influence the final result, while they are hard to detect (3). However, precautions against such problems can be easily checked in audits (3). An example of conflicts of interest can be seen in the research of Bisphenol A (BPA). Research studies funded by industry did not report significant effects when assessing low doses of BPA while more than 90% of the research studies funded by governmental agencies did find significant effects for exposure to low doses of BPA (5). Within this context, a positive publication bias, (i.e. the bias that might occur due to the fact that authors are more likely to submit, or editors are more likely to accept, positive results than negative or inconclusive results), should on the other hand also be taken into account.

Currently, the industry only has to deliver a study summary, which must contain sufficient and accurate information on the complete study (2). Ingre-Khans et al. (2) recently investigated study summaries and found several kinds of errors: from typing errors, to unclear and incomplete reporting, to omission of information which was considered relevant for assessment of the chemical. The latter is highly concerning for the accuracy of these summaries, which are used for decision making (2). As a result, the reliability and quality of the data that is delivered by the industry can be questioned.

Many of the dossiers submitted to the European Chemicals Agency (ECHA) are noncompliant, with the majority lacking information needed to assess the risks and hazards (6–9). ECHA considers compliance a priority with a focus on long-term effects on human health and on the environment and aims to improve compliance and quality of dossiers in a gradual and planned way (6–9). To improve transparency of data, a

potential solution can be to make full study reports available or to allow independent assessment of the data (2). Also for the risk assessment, all available data should be accessible (2). However, the majority of the data received from those studies is considered confidential (2).

To minimise bias and to avoid conflict of interests, it is worth to consider to perform the testing and registering of the chemicals by an independent third party (2). In order to ensure that studies are performed in a qualitative way with adherence to GLP (1). The independent laboratories would have to be subject to more audits to confirm conformity to GLP and to check the quality of their data. Finally, there is need for close collaboration between these laboratories performing the testing and REACH regulators to identify needs for testing and to perform checking of data.

2.2. Follow-up of substances after putting on the market

Currently, under REACH, substances are only tested for certain endpoints, depending on tonnage per year used. Once allowed on the market, no mechanism is in place to monitor how the risk associated with these substances evolves. Registrants have requirements to keep their registrations up to date, however, in 55 % of the companies selected for an inspection system to update the registrations were absent and 18% had registration dossiers that had not undergone an obligatory update (8). Further, there is no follow-up on epidemiological, long-term effects of these substances after being put on the market. Scheepers and Godderis (10) described the importance of post-market evaluation mechanisms, that are still lacking in REACH. A molecular epidemiological approach could be more sensitive than classical epidemiology (11) and is essential in the post-market evaluation. Substances are also mainly evaluated for their intended use separately, while new applications for products can arise over time (10). These new applications of the substances go hand in hand with exposure to new unidentified populations, which were not considered at the pre-market assessment (10). Despite, the obligation to update the chemical safety report when a new, non-covered use arises is included in REACH, it is clear that the update is not always done. This causes uncertainties of the long-term effects of substances on human health and on the environment. Like ECHA mentioned in their report on the operation of REACH and CLP (8), REACH only demands restricted information regarding environmental risks. However, between, 2016 and 2020, an acceleration was seen in the restriction of substances with risks to the environment and since 2020, persistent organic pollutants are integrated in the portfolio of ECHA (8,9).

The REACH regulation also includes the regulation of mixtures effects, but no guidance documents for their assessment exist, while various stakeholders have highlighted their importance (12). The absence of information on mixture effects pressures the testing strategy for chemicals (13). It has been shown that certain mixtures show more toxicity than the active ingredient, while REACH requirements only focus on pure chemicals (10,13). Compared to the USA, the European Union does not have a regulatory framework for assessment of mixture effects (14). While international guidelines are limited to effects on human health, the European Commission together with the relevant scientific and industrial public would go for guidelines concerning both human health and the environment (14). The European Commission also stated the need for the industry to develop exposure scenarios for mixtures (7). Martin et al. (15) showed that risk assessments

for mixtures of chemicals in published mixture studies usually can be predicted using the addition concept, however, the potential synergistic or antagonistic action of chemicals should be considered.

2.3. Increase amount and types of testing

By now it is evident that classical toxicological tests do not provide sufficient protection against adverse health effects. A more comprehensive approach is needed. In annex 3 a narrative comprehensive text and references concerning the growing evidence for the importance of mixture effects, epigenetic and transgenerational effects, low dose and non-monotonic effects, and of exposures in early life is to be found. Also the more recent discovery of the existence of ligand specific effects of exogenous substances binding to nuclear receptors is of concern. Chemicals that bind to receptors with transcription factor functions might have effects that differ from the effects of the physiological ligands and hormones. These effects cannot easily be predicted and might lead to adverse health effects.

REACH requires certain tests based on what tonnage level the chemical is used with more extensive testing for chemicals that are used in a higher tonnage levels (7). While this approach has proven reasonable for marketed substances, it might lead to issues with new substances of lower tonnages that can require market access with less comprehensive testing (7). Testing of chemicals currently takes a long time, while many substances are not yet properly tested with data lacking on their hazards or risks. Moreover, there are indications that certain chemicals can exert non-monotonic effects, and thus can lead to more effects when exposed to low doses than in higher doses (17). Required testing to gain market access does not directly address endpoints regarding endocrine disrupting abilities, neurotoxicity or immunotoxicity, which can be important consequences of exposure. Due to long latency periods, most toxicity tests and thus also the required testing under REACH is not predictive for long term effects of exposure to chemicals. Thereby, there is a lack of studies and investigation into and many uncertainties about toxicological endpoints.

Risk assessment and containment are important concepts in preventing diseases (16). A proper risk assessment can only be made when all information is available on hazardous properties of the chemical substance taking into account the current state-of-the-art in toxicology (16). However, due to the limitations in the current testing requirements under REACH and the lack of continuous surveillance and updating, not all available toxicological information on substances is considered. Further, the available information that is required comes mostly from only in vitro, or when obliged, in vivo experiments, while the animals differ physiologically from humans (16). However, despite the fact that human data are key, they are often missing due to the difficulty to collect and obtain certainly in the early phase of an application (16). In order to obtain more insights in the toxicological profile of chemicals and to integrate modern science and technologies, we would need an adapted regulatory framework.

Fentem et al. (18) stated that if the obligated testing remains based on tonnage levels, protection from the chemical substances to environment and consumers would fail and registrants would have large volumes of data that has to be generated. Therefore, definition of several surrogates for chemical exposure other than tonnage levels is important in the further improvement of protection from chemicals (18).

In 2010, it was already noted that REACH requirements are strict endpoint-related and that endpoints such as respiratory toxicity, obesity, neurodevelopment, and neurodegeneration are not investigated, with highly relevant and incident diseases such as neuropsychiatric disease, metabolic syndrome, endocrine and reproductive disorders and pulmonary diseases as potential consequences (13). ECHA suggests that this is a consequence of the generous use of read-across data (6). The strictly defined endpoints allow for an easy evaluation of compliance, but bring doubts whether those tests can be used to predict all health hazards those chemicals give rise to (13). ECHA recognizes the relevance of endpoints that are currently not included in the column 1 information such as immunotoxicity (19). Tests on endpoints such as developmental neurotoxicity and immunotoxicity should in REACH be performed when available data has shown concern for these endpoints (8). However, subjectivity hits in on how the concern should be established (8). Even less substances receive a mutagenic or carcinogenic classification, which is reflective of the focus within REACH, but the conditions to include testing for mutagenicity and carcinogenicity could be reviewed (8). The past eight years no endocrine disrupting chemicals (EDC) which were discussed by the EDC Expert Group resulted in restriction or inclusion in the Authorisation list (20).

While Article 25 of the REACH legislation states that testing on vertebrate animals only would be undertaken as a last resort and recital 37 states that it should be approached by using other alternative testing strategies whenever possible, ECHA has rejected read-across or non-animal tests proposed by industry when they were not considered to fulfil the standard information requirements (for instance when the read-across justification by industry was lacking or insufficient). In 2018, the European Court of Justice ruled against ECHA, after it had demanded a developmental toxicity study in animals to Esso Raffinage to eliminate data gaps, while Esso Raffinage argumented to be able to demonstrate safety with information from other sources (18). This leads to the perception that there is a lack of willingness of ECHA to consider alternative testing strategies, however, ECHA is concerned about the robustness of the alternative approaches to replace standard animal tests (22,23). Several studies have also been performed on in silico profiling, in vitro profiling, toxicokinetic modelling, and read-across methods in order to promote their use to their full potential as a transparent and consistent methodology (24-26). ECHA published a document describing the read-across assessment framework (19), and launched a Quantitative structure-activity relationship (QSAR) Toolbox, allowing to extract each other's results (9). According to some researchers, this document does seem to be very demanding to make an acceptable read-across (22). Due to the adaptation of the requirements for safety information for REACH in 2016, an increase in alternative testing strategies is seen, with more adaptations such as read-across and a more widely use of in vitro testing (9). However, in 2018, it was noted that in vitro tests were only used at a low level as complete replacements, while much effort was put into their validation (22). For example, between 2008 and 2016, for only 11% for the skin irritation, and 7% for eye irritation only in vitro results were submitted (22,23). There are also delays regarding updating the Test Method Regulation (TMR), which should be updated when ECHA regards a method "appropriate", suggesting like Taylor (22) mentioned an overly cautious approach of ECHA to consider them as complete replacements.

An important point of criticism in REACH is the need for more chemical control before entry to the market is allowed, especially on long term effects to human health and the environment (8,21,27). A no data, no market principle is proposed and acknowledged by ECHA by a more extensive completeness check since July 2016 (6,8,20).

2.4. Need for faster decision making under the current REACH process

Another point of criticism in REACH is the lengthiness before regulatory action is taken and the low output of substance evaluations (6,21). This results in the piling up of substances that need regulatory action and meanwhile consumers and workers stay exposed. Due to the large amounts of substances to be tested and the slow process of doing so under REACH, very little action is taken up until now. Until 2018, only 94 substances had completed the substance evaluation (6). Only a quarter of the chemicals identified with a very high concern, have been added to the Authorisation list, with half of the uses of such chemicals still allowed awaiting a decision by ECHA (20). Therefore, there is need for more ambitious goals to ensure a safer environment and health. This includes more stringent obligations for industry to provide information and to proof the absence of risks before the substance can be allowed on the market.

When risks emerge for a substance, the authorities have the decision whether the chemical can remain on the market with restrictions for the uses that resulted in risks or if the substance gets banned from the market (10). The report of Late Lessons From Early Warnings of the European Environment Agency concludes there to be a lack of mechanisms to respond to early warning signals, with the recommendation to reduce the delay between early warning and taken actions (16). One of the reasons for the slow evaluation process is also the lack of environmental and human data and proposals have been made to set in place (inter)national expert groups with a centralised expert group at EU level to ensure collaboration to evaluate new and emerging risks (6,16). With chemical substances evaluated based on priority, some substances will not get evaluated, and thus remain on the market without restrictions (Armstrong et al., 2021). In thirteen years, only 27 substances were restricted by REACH (20).

In a non-paper, the European Environmental Bureau wrote that in the best case scenario, it takes three and a half years for identification and classification for a hazardous substance (20). When legal timeframes are respected and depending on the duration of additional testing, a substance evaluation is completed after 7-9 years, which in many cases finds even more postponement throughout the process (6). For example, triphenyl phosphate was flagged with concerns about endocrine effects (6). The evaluation in the Community rolling action plan was postponed four years in a row (6). After 7-9 years to clarify a suspected concern, the implementation of regulatory actions may take 5-7 years, leading to 12-16 years before chemicals of concern are regulated (6). However, listing substances of very high concern in the Candidate list only takes six months (20). Compliance checks of the safety data can take more than five years (20).

Since 2019, authorities have been using a grouping approach for similar substances where possible, to increase efficiency and effectiveness of regulatory action (8). Based on structural similarity, substances can exhibit similar physico-chemical, toxicological and ecotoxicological effects and therefore can be considered as members of a group. Within these groups, data regarding health endpoints can be predicted by the data of another member of the group, also known as read-across data (1). In 2018, the European Commission also suggested to use a grouping approach next to improving the non-compliance present in the registration files (7).

3. Remediation of shortcomings

For the classification of chemicals (no-restriction, restriction, ban), no discrimination is made between hazards to human health or to the environment.

In order to faster obtain more insights in the toxicological profiles of a larger number of chemicals while at the same time relying less on animals, new regulatory frameworks are needed. As highlighted by Cronin et al. (28), such frameworks should integrate data on biological activity and kinetics from different sources and compare the outputs with estimates of exposure. To increase the speed and scope of testing we propose to include fast battery testing as well as toxicokinetic testing. Further, alternative methods should be considered such as new in silico and in vitro testing methods to expand the knowledge of the chemical substances before they enter the market. We also think it is necessary to include testing with endpoints such as endocrine disrupting features, neurotoxicity, immunotoxicity, and others as obligation under REACH to cover these effects before market access. It would be in everyone's interest to make all testing data publicly available. In the ECHA strategic plan 2019-2023 final, they describe their desire to have robust data about all chemicals in Europe and to have all registrations dossiers updated with appropriate and complete data about hazards of substances (21). In 2022, the European Environmental Bureau published a non-paper in which they again stated the need for this kind of policy, suggesting it has not been implemented yet (20).

To guarantee objectivity and completeness of test results, testing should ideally to be performed by independent laboratories. In order to ensure that studies are performed in a qualitative way with adherence to GLP, these independent laboratories would have to be subject to more audits. Ideally, financing of the tests should run via a test fund that is managed by REACH policy makers and fed by the industry.

Once a chemical has been allowed to be put on the market there should be a follow-up for example by an independent organization. Once substances of concern have been identified, there is a need for epidemiological studies but also a molecular-epidemiological approach should be followed in addition to epidemiology, and can lead to the detection of effects at a point in time where no irreversible health damage has occurred, permitting preventive measures and constant follow-up. Santos et al. (6) showed that for many chemicals for which concerns were demonstrated regulatory action to confine the risks remains absent. According to the European Commission (7), improvement is needed with the notification of substances of very high concern in articles, initiatives like digital products passports could help in this regard. Several articles propose mechanisms as pharmacovigilance and the 'disease first' method as 'early warning systems' as post-market surveillance systems (10,16). Important is the awareness of health professionals to the potential risk chemicals might have even with the regulations in place (16). Due to the probable rareness of these diseases and their long latency times, Palmen et al. (16) suggests the need for international surveillance systems. These forms of secondary prevention have the potential to prevent new cases in an early phase and to fill knowledge gaps (16).

References

1. Armstrong V, Karyakina NA, Nordheim E, Arnold I, Krewski D. Overview of REACH: Issues Involved in the Registration of Metals. Neurotoxicology. 2021 Mar 1;83:186–98.

2. Ingre-Khans E, Ågerstrand M, Beronius A, Rudén C. Toxicity studies used in registration, evaluation, authorisation and restriction of chemicals (REACH): How accurately are they reported? Integr Environ Assess Manag [Internet]. 2019 May 1 [cited 2022 Aug 1];15(3):458–69. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/ieam.4123

3. van Dongen N, Sikorski M. Objectivity for the research worker. Eur J Philos Sci [Internet]. 2021 Sep 1 [cited 2022 Aug 5];11(3):93. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8550135/

4. Richardson ET, Polyakova A. The illusion of scientific objectivity and the death of the investigator. Eur J Clin Invest [Internet]. 2012 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Aug 5];42(2):213–5. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1365-2362.2011.02569.x

5. vom Saal FS, Hughes C. An extensive new literature concerning low-dose effects of bisphenol A shows the need for a new risk assessment. Environ Health Perspect [Internet]. 2005 Aug [cited 2022 Aug 17];113(8):926–33. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/

6. Santos T, Loonen H, Romano D, Vitali E, Hök F, Bernard A. CHEMICAL EVALUATION Achievements, challenges and recommendations after a decade of REACH-2-REACH Evaluation EUROPE'S LARGEST NETWORK OF ENVIRONMENTAL CITIZENS ORGANISATIONS [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2022 Aug 2]. Available from: www.eeb.org

7. European Commission. COMMUNICATION FROM THE COMMISSION TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT, THE COUNCIL AND THE EUROPEAN ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COMMITTEE Commission General Report on the operation of REACH and review of certain elements Conclusions and Actions [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2022 Aug 4]. Available from: https://ec.europa.eu/environment/chemicals/reach/review_2017_en.htm

8. European Chemicals Agency. Report on the operation of REACH and CLP 2021 [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2022 Aug 4]. Available from: http://echa.europa.eu/contact

9. European Chemicals Agency. Annual Report 2020. 2020.

10. Scheepers PTJ, Godderis L. Detect and re-assess impact of chemicals on health and environment during post-market evaluation. Environ Res. 2019 Nov 1;178:108728.

11. Vineis P, Perera F (2007) Molecular epidemiology and biomarkers in etiologic cancer research: the new in light of the old. Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention, 16 (10):1954-1965

12. Galert W, Hassold E. Environmental Risk Assessment of Technical Mixtures Under the European Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals-A Regulatory Perspective. Integr Environ Assess Manag [Internet]. 2021 May 1 [cited 2022 Aug 8];17(3):498–506. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33448633/ Schoeters G. The Reach Perspective: Toward a New Concept of Toxicity Testing. J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev [Internet]. 2010 Feb [cited 2022 Aug 2];13(2–4):232–41. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/10937404.2010.483938

Sarigiannis DA, Hansen U. Considering the cumulative risk of mixtures of chemicals – A challenge for policy makers. Environmental Health [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2022 Aug 1];11(Suppl 1):S18. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC3388441/

15. Martin O, Scholze M, Ermler S, McPhie J, Bopp SK, Kienzler A, et al. Ten years of research on synergisms and antagonisms in chemical mixtures: A systematic review and quantitative reappraisal of mixture studies. Environ Int [Internet]. 2021 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Aug 5];146:106206. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33120228/

16. Palmen NGM, Lenderink AF, Godderis L. New and emerging risks of chemical carcinogens: detection and prevention. Occup Med (Lond) [Internet]. 2018 Mar 27 [cited 2022 Aug 1];68(2):80–2. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC6019016/

17. Park SK, Ding N, Han D. Perfluoroalkyl substances and cognitive function in older adults: Should we consider non-monotonic dose-responses and chronic kidney disease? Environ Res [Internet]. 2021 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Aug 17];192. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33068581/

18. Fentem J, Malcomber I, Maxwell G, Westmoreland C. Upholding the EU's Commitment to "Animal Testing as a Last Resort" Under REACH Requires a Paradigm Shift in How We Assess Chemical Safety to Close the Gap Between Regulatory Testing and Modern Safety Science. Altern Lab Anim [Internet]. 2021 Jul 1 [cited 2022 Aug 8];49(4):122–32. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34461762/

19. European Chemicals Agency. Read-Across Assessment Framework (RAAF) [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2022 Aug 4]. Available from: http://echa.europa.eu/contact

20. European Environmental Bureau. Non paper-EEB analysis of the REACH and CLP processes timeliness Analysis Summary. 2022.

21. European Chemicals Agency. ECHA Strategic Plan 2019-2023 final [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2022 Aug 5]. Available from: http://echa.europa.eu/

22. Taylor K. Ten years of REACH - An animal protection perspective. Altern Lab Anim [Internet]. 2018 Dec 1 [cited 2022 Aug 8];46(6):347–73. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30657330/

23. European Chemicals Agency (ECHA). The use of alternatives to testing on animals for the REACH Regulation - Third report under Article 117(3) of the REACH Regulation. Helsinki; 2017 Jun.

24. Hasselgren C, Ahlberg E, Akahori Y, Amberg A, Anger LT, Atienzar F, et al. Genetic toxicology in silico protocol. Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology. 2019 Oct 1;107:104403.

25. Berggren E, Amcoff P, Benigni R, Blackburn K, Carney E, Cronin M, et al. Chemical Safety Assessment Using Read-Across: Assessing the Use of Novel Testing Methods to Strengthen the Evidence Base for Decision Making. Environ Health Perspect [Internet]. 2015 Dec 1 [cited 2022 Aug 5];123(12):1232. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4671246/ 26. Pizzo F, Lombardo A, Brandt M, Manganaro A, Benfenati E. A new integrated in silico strategy for the assessment and prioritization of persistence of chemicals under REACH. Environ Int [Internet]. 2016 Mar 1 [cited 2022 Aug 8];88:250–60. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26773396/

27. Sachana M, Bal-Price A, Crofton KM, Bennekou SH, Shafer TJ, Behl M, et al. International Regulatory and Scientific Effort for Improved Developmental Neurotoxicity Testing. TOXICOLOGICAL SCIENCES [Internet].
2019 [cited 2022 Aug 4];167(1):45–57. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/toxsci/article/167/1/45/5203663

28. Cronin M, Doe J, Pereira M, Willett C. Re: A call for action on the development and implementation of new methodologies for safety assessment of chemical-based products in the EU – A short communication. Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology. 2021 Jun 1;122:104911.

Annex 1 – The issue: high and often increasing incidence or prevalence of "diseases of civilization"

That chronic non-communicable diseases are an important cause of human suffering is certain (WHO, 2022). In the last hundred years the socioeconomic conditions and the availability of many food items have improved markedly in the western countries. However, although life expectancy has risen, the incidence and prevalence of many diseases of civilization has increased after correction for ageing (Belgian Superior Health Council 2019). In this annex the term "diseases of civilization" is used to designate cardiovascular diseases, cancer, diabetes, obesity, female and male reproductive dysfunction, disorders of neurodevelopment and cognition, and immune system related diseases. The incidence of cancer and the prevalence of diabetes, the metabolic syndrome, obesity, allergies and problems with fertility have risen.

It is clear that the progress in medical science and techniques has allowed to limit the impact of diseases on mortality and severe morbidity, but, at least until recently, the percentage of people free of chronic diseases that can be related to chemicals has not risen. In the Netherlands the life expectancy at birth without chronic illness (see RIVM website in references) has decreased for men from 54.5 years in 1981 to 48.1 years in 2012 and for women from 53.9 in 1981 to 40.5 in 2012 (Van Duuin & Stoeldraijer, 2014)). Correspondingly, in Flanders the prevalence of self-reported chronic diseases has increased with 34% from 2001 to 2018. This was however not the case for Brussels and Wallonia. (https://www.healthybelgium.be/en/health-status/non-communicable-diseases/overview#references and https://www.sciensano.be/en/biblio/gezondheidsenquete-2018-chronische-ziekten-en-aandoeningen).

A world-wide increase in the incidence of cancer is observed (Sasco, 2008). In Flanders, the incidence of cancer has risen for men till 2004 with a cumulative incidence of 35.3% and for women till 2014 with a cumulative incidence of 28.3% ages 0-74 after exclusion of non-melanoma skin cancer. In Flanders a decrease has been observed in recent years for men, and to a lesser extent for women. In 2020 in Flanders the cumulative incidence of cancer for ages 0-74, after exclusion of non-melanoma skin cancer, amounted to 32.20 % in men and 27.10 % in women (data from the Belgian National Cancer Registry).

Although age-adjusted atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease mortality rate trends decreased globally (Barquera et al., 2015), the leading cause of death, globally, remains cardiovascular diseases; their prevalence is incessantly progressing in both developed and developing nations according to the report of the World Health Organization (Balakumar et al., 2016). However, probably due to medical progress, the mortality from cardiovascular disease in Belgium diminished from 36.0 % of total mortality in 1998 to 28.4 % in 2015 (National Institute for Statistics).

The prevalence of obesity, diabetes, the metabolic syndrome have risen in the past decades. Overweight and obesity have increased markedly in the last 20 years in most OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development) countries, not only in adults, but also in children, and an increase in children has also been observed in Belgium between 2000 - 2001 and 2013 - 2014 (https://www.oecd.org/els/health-systems/Obesity-Update-2017.pdf, accessed 26/9/2018). From 2003 - 2004 to 2011 - 2012, overall prevalence of the metabolic syndrome increased in the USA from 32.9 % (95 % confidence interval (CI), 31.6 % - 34.2 %) in 2003 - 2004 to 34.7 % (95 % CI, 33.5 % - 36.0 %) in 2011 - 2012 (Aguilar et al., 2015).

In the second half of the 20th century it became obvious that a relentless increase in diabetes type 2 (diabetes mellitus (DM)) affecting the economically affluent countries, is gradually afflicting also the developing world (Ginter & Simko, 2010). The global prevalence of type 2 diabetes is estimated to have doubled over the past 30 years and now includes rapidly rising numbers of children and adolescents (The Lancet editorial, 2018). In the USA age-adjusted prevalence of type 2 diabetes for adults age 65+ increased at an average annual percentage change of 2.31 % between 1992 and 2012

(Akushevich et al., 2018). The incidence of childhood-onset type 1 diabetes has increased worldwide. Throughout Europe the reported annual increment varied between 2 % and 5 % according to the observed population. In Belgium a secular trend of increasing incidence was noted in children, but a decreasing incidence in the age group 15 - 39 years was observed, indicating an earlier onset of diabetes type 1 (Gorus et al., 2004). According to the Belgian "Diabetes Liga" prevalence of diabetes has more than doubled in the past decades and the International Diabetes federation estimates that 8.0 % of the Belgian population suffers from diabetes, predominantly (about 90 %) from diabetes type 2 (https://www.diabetes.be/diabetes-cijfers, accessed 26/9/2018).

In Flanders (Comhaire et al., 2007) and many other regions in the world the incidence and prevalence of problems with male fertility has increased. A review by Sengupta et al. (2017) identified an overall 57 % diminution in mean sperm concentration over the past 35 years (p = 0.0002), which, when analyzed for each geographical region, identified a significant decline in North America, Europe, Asia, and Africa.

According to the World Allergy report allergic diseases are increasing in prevalence worldwide (Pawankar et al., 2008). In the UK, the prevalence of allergic disorders has risen importantly over several decades, but rates have stabilized over the past decade (Gupta et al., 2007). In the UK admissions for some systemic allergic diseases have however risen sharply in the last decade which may indicate a rising incidence of these conditions (Gupta et al., 2007).

In most countries, the prevalence of asthma has been reported to increase in the last few decades (Eder et al., 2006).

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a leading cause of world-wide mortality and disability. On average about 5 - 15 % of adults in industrialized countries have COPD defined by spirometry (Anto et al., 2001). The World Health Organisation has predicted that COPD will become the third most common cause of death in the world by 2030 (cited by Diaz-Guzman & Mannino, 2014). In recent years the COPD morbidity and mortality have however decreased in some developed countries (Diaz-Guzman & Mannino, 2014).

There are indications that since more than a decade, cognitive capacities have decreased in some Western countries (Teasdale & Owen, 2005; Dutton & Lynn, 2013), whereas these cognitive capacities had increased over the previous decades in the 20th century (Flynn, 1987; Pietschnig and Voracek, 2015). Moreover, the prevalence of neurodevelopmental disorders has increased during the past decades: autistic spectrum disorders and attention deficit hyperactivity disorders (Bellanger et al., 2015).

The prevalence of neurodegenerative diseases has increased. In the Netherlands, the incidence of Persistent Cognitive Decline increased among 65 - 88 year-olds from 2.5 % to 3.4 % between 1992/1993 and 2015/2016, and in Belgium the importance of Alzheimer disease as a cause of death has increased with 35.4 % between 2005 and 2016 (healthdata.org).

Finally, it seems probable that the prevalence of certain types of behavioral problems has increased (Bor et al., 2014).

Annex 1 References

Aguilar M, Bhuket T, Torres S, Liu B, Wong RJ. Prevalence of the Metabolic Syndrome in the United States, 2003-2012. Jama 2015;313:1973-4.

Akushevich I, Yashkin AP, Kravchenko J, Fang F, Arbeev K, Sloan F et al. Identifying the causes of the changes in the prevalence patterns of diabetes in older U.S. adults: A new trend partitioning approach. J Diabetes Complications 2018;32:362-7.

Antó JM, Vermeire P, Vestbo J, Sunyer J. Epidemiology of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. European Respiratory Journal 2001;17:982-94.

Balakumar, P, Maung UK, Jagadeesh G. Prevalence and prevention of cardiovascular disease and diabetes mellitus. Pharmacol.Res 2016;113:600-9.

Barquera S, Pedroza-Tobias A, Medina C, Hernandez-Barrera L, Bibbins-Domingo K, Lozano R et al. Global Overview of the Epidemiology of Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease. Arch Med Res 2015;46:328-38.

Belgian Superior Health Council (2019). PHYSICAL CHEMICAL ENVIRONMENTAL HYGIENE (LIMITING EXPOSURE TO MUTAGENIC OR ENDOCRINE DISRUPTING AGENTS) AND THE IMPORTANCE OF EXPOSURES EARLY IN LIFE. Brussels: SHC; 2019. Report 9404. www.css-hgr.be. See chapter 1 and Annex 1.

Bellanger M, Demeneix B, Grandjean P, Zoeller RT, Trasande L. Neurobehavioral deficits, diseases, and associated costs of exposure to endocrine-disrupting Chemicals in the European Union J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2015;100:1256–66.

Bor W, Dean AJ, Najman J, Hayatbakhsh R. Are child and adolescent mental health problems increasing in the 21st century? A systematic review. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry 2014;48.

Comhaire FH, Mahmoud A, Schoonjans F. Sperm quality, birth rates and the environment in Flanders. Reprod. Toxicol 2007;23:133-7.

Diaz-Guzman E, Mannino DM. Epidemiology and Prevalence of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. Clinics in chest medicine 2014.35:7-16.

Dutton E, Lynn R. A negative Flynn effect in Finland, 1997-2009. Intelligence 2013;41:817–20.

Eder W, Ege MJ, von Mutius E. The asthma epidemic. N Engl J Med 2006;355:2226-35.

Flynn JR. Massive IQ gains in 14 nations: What IQ tests really measure. Psychological Bulletin 1987;101:171-91.

Galenkamp H, Braam AW, Huisman M, Deeg DJ. Seventeen-year time trend in poor self-rated health in older adults: changing contributions of chronic diseases and disability. Eur J Public Health 2013;23:511-17.

Ginter E, Simko V. Diabetes type 2 pandemic in 21st century. Bratisl Lek Listy 2010;111:134-7.

Gorus, F, Weets I, Couck P, Pipeleers DG. Epidemiology of type 1 and type 2 diabetes. The added value of diabetes registries for conducting clinical studies: the Belgian paradigm. Acta Clin.Belg 2004;59:1-13.

Gupta, R, Sheikh A, Strachan DP, Anderson HR. Time trends in allergic disorders in the UK. Thorax 2007;62:91-6.

Pawankar R, Baena-Cagnani CE, Bousquet J, Walter Canonica G, Cruz AA, Kaliner MA et al. State of world allergy report 2008 allergy and chronic respiratory diseases. World Allergy Organ J 2008;1:130.

Pietschnig J, Voracek M. One century of global IQ gains: A formal Meta-analysis of the Flynn effect (1909-2013). Perspect Psychol Sci 2015;10:282-306.

RIVM website https://www.cbs.nl/nl-nl/nieuws/2006/50/goede-gezondheid-duurt-voor-mannen-en-vrouweneven-lang/levensverwachting-zonder-chronische-ziekten Sasco AJ. Cancer and globalization. Biomed Pharmacother 2008;62:110-21.

Sengupta P, Dutta S, Krajewska-Kulak E. The Disappearing Sperms: Analysis of Reports Published Between 1980 and 2015. Am J Mens Health 2017;11:1279-1304.

Teasdale TW, Owen DR. A long-term rise and recent decline in intelligence test performance: The Flynn effect in reverse. Personality and Individual Differences 2005;39:837–43.

The Lancet Editorial. Type 2 diabetes: the urgent need to protect young people. The Lancet 2018;392:2325.

Van Duin. C. en L. Stoeldraijer (2014). Projecties van de gezonde levensverwachting tot 2030. Bevolkingstrends, juni 2014, Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek

WHO (2022). Noncommunicable diseases. Fact Sheet. (Retrieved from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/noncommunicable-diseases on: 2/11/2022)

Annex 2 – Man-made products and pollutants, in particular carcinogenic agents, mutagenic agents and endocrine disruptors, contribute substantially to the risk of diseases of civilization

It is well known that the causes of diseases of civilization are multifactorial, and that inherited traits, nutrition (WHO technical staff, 2014) and behaviour, including the amount and regularity of physical exercise (American Cancer Society, Kushi et al., 2012), play an important role. This text is meant to present the main lines of evidence indicating that pollutants and man-made products contribute substantially to the risk of diseases of civilization. This item is developed in somewhat greater detail with relation to cancer but is also addressed in relation to other diseases. That pollution poses a serious threat to human health is increasingly recognized. The Global Burden of Disease study, a multinational study (WHO, World Bank, Harvard School of Public Health, 2015), estimates that pollution-related disease was responsible in 2015 for 16 % of total global mortality (Cohen et al., 2017). According to the global burden of disease study, all forms of pollution combined were responsible in 2015 for 21 % of all deaths from cardiovascular disease, 26 % of deaths due to ischaemic heart disease, 23 % of deaths due to stroke, 51 % of deaths due to chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and 43 % of deaths due to lung cancer.

1. Numerous substances are mutagenic, carcinogenic or endocrine disruptors

For about four decades, the human population has been exposed to an increasingly large array of synthetic chemicals. Only about 1 % of those chemicals have been studied so far since scientific research is time-consuming and costly (Trasande et al., 2016), or because testing was simply not requested or not deemed necessary.

Animal tests with 127 substances, selected because they were produced in huge quantities and/or because of the existence of an important human exposure, showed that 26 (20 %) of these substances were carcinogenic (Huff, 1993). It is probable that a large percentage of reactive chemical substances are genotoxic carcinogens (see Alberts et al., 1994, p 243; Huff & Hoel, 1992).) According to a report by Dhooge et al (1998) two to three percent of the

WCSR Advice 2023-19 |

substances with a high production volume might have an oestrogenic activity. So far, 1,409 chemicals (last updated September 2017) have been listed as potential EDC based on data published in the peer-reviewed literature (TEDX, 2017). Some 82,000 chemicals are registered for commercial use in the USA alone (Duncan, 2006), and in Europe almost more than 140,000 chemicals were preregistered for a later full registration within REACH (Backhaus et al., 2010). The European Union (European Chemicals Agency (ECHA)) has listed 145,297 chemicals as pre-registered before 2008 (last updated 11 August 2017). An estimated 2,000 new chemicals are introduced annually for applications in everyday items such as foods, personal care products, prescription drugs, household cleaners, and lawn care products (Duncan, 2006). In the European Union there are about 100,000 substances on the market and about 2,000 chemical substances are produced or imported in large quantities. The Toxic Substances Control Act Chemical Substances Inventory contained in February 2017 more than 67,000 chemicals (https://www.epa.gov/tsca-inventory/about-tsca-chemical-substance-inventory#howare). In polluted air or in emissions to environmental air more than 2,800 different chemical substances were already identified in 1992 (Lewtas, 1993). The US Environmental Protection Agency considers 10,517 substances for testing related to endocrine disruption. The literature contains data on testing for endocrine disruption of 1,036 substances (http://endocrinedisruption.org/).

2. Cardiovascular disease (CVD)

According to the Lancet commission on pollution and health (Landrigan et al., 2017) all forms of pollution combined were responsible, worldwide, in 2015, for 21 % of all deaths from cardiovascular disease.

There are now studies suggesting a direct link between EDCs and CVD, independently of those EDCs acting as obesogens or diabetogens (Gore et al., 2015.). Dioxin exposure (Humblet et al., 2008), organochlorine pesticides (Min et al., 2011) and dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT) (La Merrill et al., 2013) were found to be associated with CVD in epidemiological studies. There is evidence that Bisphenol A (BPA) acts directly as a cardiovascular disruptor in rodents (Gore et al., 2015) and that internal exposure to BPA is associated with CVD in humans (Gore et al., 2015).

Carcinogenesis and atherosclerosis might have several fundamental biological mechanisms in common (Botto et al., 2001). So several of the pollutants contributing to the risk of cancer might also contribute to the risk of CVD. In accordance with this is, for instance, the fact that fine airborne particles increase risk of cardiovascular disease by inducing atherosclerosis (Landrigan et al., 2017). Also, fine particulate air pollution is associated with several risk factors for cardiovascular disease, including: hypertension, increased serum lipid concentrations, increasing oxidative stress, increasing insulin resistance, promoting endothelial dysfunction, and enhancing propensity to coagulation (Landrigan et al., 2017). Ionizing radiation is another example of an exogenous factor inducing, at low level exposures, as well cardiovascular diseases as cancer. A systematic review and meta-analysis has been performed to summarize information on circulatory disease risks associated with whole-body ionizing radiation exposures. This review supports an association between circulatory disease mortality and low and moderate doses of ionizing radiation (Little et al., 2012). Tumor suppressor molecules are activated in the complex environment of atherosclerotic plaque, and regulate growth arrest, cell senescence and the apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cells, which may protect against the progression of atherosclerosis (Suzuki et al., 2014.).

3. Diabetes

Many EDCs produce insulin resistance and alter insulin production and secretion by directly acting on adipocytes, liver, and Beta-cells in the absence of overweight or obesity (Gore et al., 2015). There is substantial evidence, including prospective studies, linking some persistent organic pollutant (POP) exposure to type 2 diabetes in humans, including organochlorine pesticides such as trans-nonachlor, hexachlorobenzene, dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene (DDE), polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), and dioxin-like chemicals. Notably, nonmonotonic relationships and low-dose effects appear in humans (Lee et al., 2014). Also internal exposure to bisphenol A, and exposure to arsenic and phthalates were found to be associated with the risk of type 2 diabetes (Gore et al., 2015).

Experiments in vitro and on animals have produced evidence for diabetogenic activity of several chemicals, including perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) (Gore et al., 2015).

In a systematic review, Dimakakou et al. (2018) found a consistent positive association between ambient air pollution and type 2 diabetes.

4. Obesity

The origin of obesity is multifactorial and is influenced by both genetic and environmental factors. The "obesogen hypothesis" suggests that prenatal or early-life exposure to certain EDCs predisposes some individuals to gain fat mass and become obese. Bisphenol A, phthalates and persistent organic pollutants have been found to be associated with obesity in some epidemiological studies, but the evidence for this associations is limited (Gore et al., 2015).

In vitro experiments have shown that low concentrations of tributyl tin (TBT), some phthalates, parabens, 4nonylphenol, the fungicide triflumizole, the pesticide tolylfluanid, the brominated flame retardant 2,2',4,4'tetrabromodiphenyl ether (BDE-47) and bisphenol A promote adipogenesis (Gore et al., 2015). Activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARgamma) and the retinoid X receptor (RXR) are an important mechanism that can lead to adipogenesis (Gore et al., 2015). But adipogenesis can also be stimulated through other mechanisms, involving estrogen receptors, a glucocorticoid receptor or the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) (Irigaray et al., 2006; Gore et al., 2015).

Animal studies show obesogenic effects of environmental estrogens, tributyltin, some phthalates, the flame retardant tetrabromobisphenol, the anti-stick chemical perfluorooctanoic acid, 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD), the polychlorobiphenyls 126 and 77, DDT and the organophosphate insecticides chlorpyrifos, diazinon and parathion (Gore et al., 2015).

5. Female reproductive dysfunction

Several studies indicate that EDCs can adversely affect the ovary, uterus, vagina, anterior pituitary, and/or steroid production, which can lead to reproductive disorders such as early puberty, infertility, abnormal cyclicity, premature ovarian failure/menopause, endometriosis, fibroids, and adverse pregnancy outcomes (Gore et al., 2015).

Bisphenol A, some phthalates, the pesticide methoxychlor (MXC) and the dioxin TCDD were reported to disturb ovarian development in animals (Gore et al., 2015).

Disturbance of ovarian function in animals was reported (Gore et al., 2015) for postnatal exposure to: bisphenol A, some phthalates, the pesticides MXC, endosulfan, malathion, chlorpyrifos, cypermethrin, imidacloprid, fenvalerate,

trifluralin, bifenthrin, diuron, and 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid; diethylstilbestrol; the dioxin TCDD, several PCB congeners (Gore et al., 2015). Multiple studies consistently show that a variety of pesticides alter ovarian steroidogenesis in laboratory animals (Gore et al., 2015). Bisphenol A, some phthalates, and the pesticide heptachlor were reported to disturb ovarian steroidogenesis in women (Gore et al., 2015).

Interestingly, the effects of EDCs on the ovary may be transgenerational in nature because studies indicate that both fetal and neonatal exposure to MXC caused epigenetic alterations in ovarian genes in adults (Zama & Uzumcu, 2009; Uzumcu et al., 2012).

Bisphenol A, some phthalates, several pesticides including a mixture of organophosphorus pesticides (dichlorvos, dimethoate, and malathion), endosulfan, fenvalerate, DDT, hexachlorocyclohexane, benomyl, carbendazim, the herbicide pendimethalin, the antibacterial agent triclosan, and the antistich chemical perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) all were reported to disturb uterine structure/function (Gore et al., 2015).

Diethylstilboestrol induces adenosis lesions in the cervix and vagina in women, and in utero exposure causes clear cell carcinoma of the vagina (Smith et al., 2012).

Bisphenol A, the phthalate DEHP (bis(2-ethylhexyl) benzene-1,2-dicarboxylate), the pesticide atrazine (ATR) and diethylstilbestrol adversely affected the function of the anterior pituitary gland in animals (Gore et al., 2015). Endocrine disrupting substances were reported to be associated with diverse effects on puberty, but the results of these studies are mixed (Gore et al., 2015).

Bisphenol A was observed as well in women as in animals to adversely affect fertility (Gore et al., 2015) and prenatal BPA exposure may have transgenerational effects on female fertility in mice (Ziv-Gal et al., 2015). Experimental studies show an association between phthalate exposure and reduced fertility in animals, but only limited information exists on phthalate exposure and fertility outcomes in women (Gore et al., 2015). Several studies indicated that pesticide exposures reduce fertility or cause infertility in animal models (Diamanti-Kandarakis et al., 2009; Gore et al., 2015) but the data on pesticide exposure and infertility in humans are equivocal (Gore et al., 2015).

Studies in women, including a prospective cohort study, showed that BPA exposure is associated with premature ovarian failure and early menopause in women (Yang et al., 2009; Souter et al., 2013). In a cross-sectional survey using the US National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES), women with high levels of phthalate metabolites or with high levels of the pesticides β -hexachlorocyclohexane (β -HCH) and mirex had an earlier mean age at menopause compared to women with low levels (Grindler et al., 2015). Animal studies are consistent with the effect of the pesticides in the study of Grindler et al. because they indicated that exposure to pesticides may cause premature ovarian failure (Gore et al., 2015). In utero exposure to diethylstilbestrol was associated with an increased lifetime risk of early menopause in women (Gore et al., 2015).

DDE (a DDT metabolite), the dioxin TCDD and PCBs were shown to induce premature reproductive senescence in female animals, and for DDE this was also observed in women (Gore et al., 2015). Urinary levels of propylparaben (a preservative in personal care products) were associated with a trend toward lower antral follicle counts as well as higher day-3 follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) levels (indicators of ovarian aging) (Smith et al., 2013).

The potential effects of EDCs on premature ovarian failure may be transgenerational in nature because developmental exposure to a pesticide mixture (permethrin and N,N-diethyl-m-toluamide) increased ovarian insufficiency in the F3 generation of rats (Manikkam, 2012a). Similarly, TCDD increased the incidence of ovarian insufficiency in the F3 generation of rats (Manikkam, 2012b).

Earlier studies showed that the dioxin TCDD was associated with an increased risk of endometriosis in nonhuman primates and women. A positive association between dioxin-like PCBs and an increased risk of endometriosis was also observed in women. Recent studies indicated that TCDD exposure disrupted cannabinoid signaling in the human endometrium, leading to increased inflammation in the endometrium and that it inhibited progesterone responsiveness in humans and animal models. Exposing mice to TCDD caused a progesterone-resistant phenotype in adults that persisted over multiple generations, suggesting that TCDD exposure had transgenerational effects on endometriosis (Gore et al., 2015).

6. Male reproductive dysfunction

Genetic mutations affecting androgen production or action cause testicular dysgenesis syndrome (TDS), including cryptorchidism, hypospadias, impaired semen quality, and markedly increased risk of testicular cancer (Skakkebaek et al., 2001).

Chemical compounds that disrupt androgen production or action can cause testicular dysgenesis symptoms such as hypospadias, cryptorchidism, and impaired spermatogenesis in experimental animals and cause structural alterations in the testis resembling the abnormalities seen in human testicular cancer (Fisher et al., 2003). Animal models show that antiandrogens can act in a dose-additive or even synergistic manner, which has challenged the current no adverse effect levels because the adverse outcomes have appeared when the animals have been exposed to a combination of chemicals far below their individual no-observed-adverse-effect levels (NOAELs) (Christiansen et al., 2009; 2012). In addition to antiandrogens, estrogens and dioxins cause similar effects, via their cognate estrogen receptors (ERs) and AhRs, respectively (Gore et al., 2015). Perfluorinated chemicals such as PFOS and PFOA have been associated with disruption of male fertility in as well animal experiments (Song et al., 2018) as in observations on humans (Di Nisio et al., 2018; 2019). In the Flemish biomonitoring program however no adverse effects on fertility were observed at the levels of internal exposure to perfluorinated chemicals measured in Flanders.

One meta-analysis suggested an increased risk of hypospadias in sons of parents exposed to pesticides, but in general results concerning the link between pesticides and hypospadias in men are rather inconsistent (Gore et al., 2015). In animal studies, hypospadias is a common outcome in male pups that have been exposed to antiandrogens in utero. Some of the chemicals inhibit testosterone production (e.g., phthalate esters [benzyl butyl phthalate (BBP), dibutyl phthalate (DBP), DEHP, diisononyl phthalate (DINP)]), whereas others block the androgen receptor (AR) (e.g. the pesticide DDE, and fungicides vinclozolin and procymidone). Despite their dissimilar mechanism of action, these chemicals act in a dose-additive manner, with increased likelihood of adverse effects of low intensity exposures to individual chemicals in the mixture (Gore et al., 2015).

7. Disorders of neurodevelopment and cognition

Many studies report an association between exposure to air pollution and disturbance of neurodevelopmental processes, neurodegeneration and impairment of cognitive development. A search in Pubmed on the seventh of September 2018 for articles published in the period 2015 - 2018 mentioning "air pollution" and one of the terms "cognition", "cognitive", "neurodegen*" or "neurodevelopm* in the title or abstract resulted in a list of 175 articles.

Basagana et al. (2016) performed a longitudinal observational study on 2,618 schoolchildren (average age 8.5 years). Children completed computerized tests assessing working memory, superior working memory, and inattentiveness during four visits. An interquartile range increase in indoor traffic-related PM2.5 (particulate matter - fine particles

with a diameter of 2.5 μ m or less) was associated with reductions in cognitive growth equivalent to 22 % (95 % CI: 2 %, 42 %) of the annual change in working memory, 30 % (95 % CI: 6 %, 54 %) of the annual change in superior working memory, and 11 % (95 % CI: 0 %, 22 %) of the annual change in the inattentiveness scale. Traffic was the only source of fine particles associated with a reduction in cognitive development.

In a systematic review, Dimakakou et al. (2018) found a consistent positive association between ambient air pollution and both type 2 diabetes and neurodegeneration risk, such as dementia and a general decline in cognition. Neuroimaging studies found cerebral white matter, cortical gray matter, and basal ganglia might be the targets of traffic-related air pollution (de Prado et al., 2018). Seelen et al. (2017) report, based on a case control study including 917 amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients and 2,662 controls, that long-term exposure to traffic-related air pollution is associated with increased susceptibility to amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). Risk of ALS was significantly increased for individuals in the upper exposure quartile of PM2.5 absorbance [odds ratio (OR)=1.67; 95 % confidence interval (CI): 1.27, 2.18], NO2 (OR=1.74; 95 % CI: 1.32, 2.30), and NOx concentrations (OR=1.38; 95 % CI: 1.07, 1.77).

The Lancet commission on pollution and health considered that air pollution is causally associated with decreased cognitive function, attention-deficit or hyperactivity disorder and autism in children and neurodegenerative disease, including dementia, in adults (Landrigan et al., 2017). Pollutants known to be toxic to the developing brain (in addition to lead) include mercury, combustion by-products such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and fine particulate matter, organophosphate pesticides, brominated flame retardants, phthalates, and polychlorinated biphenyls (Landrigan et al., 2017).

Decreased school performance and scoring on intelligence tests and even mental retardation were observed in individuals exposed in utero to the radioactive fallout of the atomic bombs in Hiroshima and Nagasaki, particularly when exposure occurred between weeks 8 and 15 of pregnancy (Otake et al., 1998; Schull et al., 1999). In the medical field, low doses of ionizing radiation to the brain in infancy have been shown to influence cognitive abilities in adulthood (Hall. et al., 2004). In order to increase the statistical power and to have more dosimetric and biological data allowing to understand the mechanisms of the cognitive and cerebrovascular effects after an exposure to low ionizing radiation doses, the project CEREBRAD was developed and supported by the EU Euratom 7th framework programme (FP7) with a multidisciplinary approach (human epidemiology, animal studies and mechanistic studies). This project unveiled effects at doses previously assumed to be harmless. Persistent effects (DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) damages, inflammation) were observed in animal studies at low doses (20 and 100 mGy) several months after exposure (corresponding to years in humans) (Benotmane A., in European Commission 2018). Combined exposures to radiation and other environmental agents decreased significantly the dose at which brain effects are observed (Eriksson et al., 2010). Interestingly, compared to the offspring exposed to maternal alcohol intake or to infectious agents (zika virus (ZIKV)), the neuropsychological development and the transcriptomic modifications of those prenatally exposed to ionising radiation are highly similar, including induction of genes involved in premature neuron differentiation (Benotmane A., in European Commission 2018).

EDCs also contribute to impairment of intellectual development, increased risk of autistic spectrum disorders and attention deficit hyperactivity disorders (Trasande et al., 2015; Attina et al., 2016). According to Bellanger et al. (2015), polybrominated diphenyl ether and organophosphate exposures contribute to IQ loss in the European population. The mechanism is likely involving interaction with the developmental effects of thyroid hormones in the brain, particularly during prenatal and early postnatal life. The most harmful chemicals appear to be organophosphate pesticides in the EU and polybrominated flame retardants in the U.S.A. Importantly, the cost of EDC effects in the

EU has been estimated by Trasande et al. (2015) to be 157 billion euros per year of which the vast majority (84 %) is related to neurodevelopmental disorders.

8. Immune system related diseases

8.1. Endocrine disruption, risk of asthma, allergies and some autoimmune diseases

There are some indications that endocrine disrupting substances can increase the risk of asthma, allergies and some autoimmune diseases. Developmental exposure to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) may increase the risk of autoimmune responses (Rooney et al., 2008). Prenatal exposure to the persistent environmental pollutant and model Ah receptor agonist, TCDD, has been shown to permanently suppress postnatal cell-mediated immunity (Rooney et al., 2008). More recently, skewing of select adult T and B cell responses toward enhanced inflammation has also been described in C57BL/6 mice after prenatal TCDD (Mustafa et al., 2011). Prenatal exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls showed a positive association with asthma, eczema/hay fever, and frequent ear infections (Parker-Lalomio et al., 2017).

8.2. Reactive substances directly interfering with immunological reactions

Many drugs but also environmental pollutants may cause adverse reactions in susceptible individuals that are reminiscent of autoimmune syndromes (Pieters, 2000; Pieters et al., 2001; 2003). Reactive chemicals or metabolites may provoke formation or release of immunosensitizing neo-antigens (a.o. hapten-carrier complexes or cryptic epitopes). Indeed, reactive chemicals, such as tetrachlorobenzoquinone, the reactive metabolite of hexachlorobenzene, can alter endogenous macromolecules through covalent or non-covalent binding, resulting in the formation of a novel antigen in which the chemical functions as hapten, leading to autoimmune reactions. Reactive chemicals can also alter the structure of an endogenous macromolecule, such that epitopes, that were previously hidden, become exposed (Ezendam et al., 2003). In addition reactive chemicals but also certain inert chemicals may trigger macrophages and other inflammatory cells to release proinflammatory products that, via elicitation of costimulatory help, support hapten- or neo-antigen-specific T cell activation. In addition, chemicals may influence immunoregulatory processes and modulate for instance the balance between type 1 and type 2 responses (Pieters, 2003).

Examples of pollutants that can induce autoimmune diseases are trichloroethylene (Cooper et al., 2009), hexachlorobenzene (Ezendam et al., 2003) and heavy metals (Chen et al., 2002).

9. Cancer

Cancer is a disease due to the clonal proliferation starting in a single cell due to a disturbance of the control of cell division. Cancer is a disease of the social organization of cells in tissues, and cancer cells divide when they should not, and move when they should not. During this clonal proliferation a process called tumor progression occurs and cancer cells acquire the capacity to invade surrounding tissues and to metastasize to other organs. Clonal proliferation and tumor progression can be stimulated by tumor promotors (see also paragraph 3 in annex 3). Mutations, and genetic instability leading to further mutations form the basis of carcinogenesis, tumor progression and resistance to therapy (Alberts et al., 1994).

WCSR Advice 2023-19 |

Under age 75 cancer (all cancers together) is the most frequent cause of mortality in the western world, before cardiovascular diseases (Belpomme et al., 2007; Clapp et al., 2006).

9.1. A small increase in mutation rate leads to important increase in cancer risk

It is known since the beginning of the 1970's that cancer rests fundamentally on the accumulation of several mutations in the same cell, most often in a stem cell. The number of mutations necessary to the malignant tumoral transformation varies in function of the type of tumor (Renan, 1993; Alberts et al., 1994), but is generally between 3 (leukemia's) and 7 (carcinoma's). The fact that several mutations (in the same cell) are needed is in agreement with the increase of the risk with age (often with the 3rd, 4th or 5th power of age) and is the main line of defense against carcinogenesis, as the probability of accumulating several mutations in the same cell is very low. An important implication of the fact that multiple mutations in the same cell are a necessary condition for the malignant tumoral transformation is that the chance of this transformation occurring increases exponentially with the mutation rate. In a model where this transformation would depend on 6 mutations, a doubling of the mutation rate would lead to an increase of the likelihood of malignant tumoral transformation with a factor 64. So the important message is: a small increase in mutation rate already leads to an important increase in risk of cancer.

9.2. Carcinogenesis also rests on changes in gene expression

Not only mutations, but also changes in gene expression can contribute to carcinogenesis. The important impact of tumor promotion and of receptor binding and otherwise endocrine disrupting agents rests mainly on changes in gene expression.

As well genotoxic carcinogens (carcinogens acting primarily through causation of mutations) (Godderis et al., 2012) as non-genotoxic carcinogens (acting primarily through effects on gene expression) (Van Delft et al., 2004) affect expression of genes in human cells, but in different ways (Van Delft et al., 2004).

Prenatal low intensity exposures to bisphenol A, induced in the mammary gland tubes of mice, changes the expression of genes that can contribute to carcinogenesis (Vandenberg, 2008; Wadia et al., 2013; Wang, 2014). Diethylstilbestrol induces the precancerous condition vaginal adenosis by disrupting SMAD/RUNX1-mediated cell fate decision in the Müllerian duct epithelium through a downregulation of the RUNX1 gene (Laronda et al., 2013). Bisphenol A affected the gene expression in human prostate stem cells and stimulated their proliferation (Ho et al., 2015; Calderon-Gierszal & Prins, 2015). This is particularly relevant because lifetime cancer risk is strongly correlated with the total number of divisions of the stem cells (Tomasetti & Vogelstein, 2015).

9.3. Endocrine disrupting agents and cancer

Endocrine disrupting agents are substances that disrupt hormonal and homeostatic systems. They act through nuclear receptors, non-nuclear steroid receptors, non-steroid receptors (for instance receptors for neurotransmitters, "orphan" receptors such as the AhR), and through interference with enzymatic reactions related to the biosynthesis or metabolism of endogenous hormones. The most .important endocrine disrupting substances are xenoestrogens, antiestrogens, antiandrogens and substances disrupting thyroid function and metabolism (De Coster & van Larebeke, 2012). Endocrine disruptors can have widely different chemical structures and comprise substances used as industrial liquids, plastic components, pesticides, medical drugs, pollutants arising from combustion processes and heavy metals

such as cadmium and lead (De Coster & van Larebeke, 2012). There is substantial evidence indicating the importance of endocrine disruption in the causation of breast cancer, uterine cancer, ovarian cancer, cancer of the vagina, prostate cancer and testicular cancer (Gore et al., 2015).

9.4. Risk of cancer increases strongly with duration of exposure

That cancer is a disease affecting mainly older people is evident. The fundamental reason for this is that cancer rests on the accumulation of different mutations in the same cell, and this accumulation increases with time (Alberts et al., 1994). But through an experiment on a very large number of rats (4,080) Peto et al. (1991a, 1991b) could demonstrate that duration of exposure in itself, independent of age, is more important than intensity of exposure. Lung cancer risks depend far more strongly on the duration than on the daily dose-rate of cigarette smoking (Peto, 1986; Flanders et al., 2003). For example, a three-fold increase in the daily dose-rate may produce only about a three-fold increase in effect, while a three-fold increase in duration might produce about a 100-fold increase in effect (Peto, 1986) This implies that chronic exposures to environmental or life style factors have a more important impact on the risk of cancer than short term accidental exposures to the same dose.

9.5. Epidemiology points to life style and occupational or environmental agents

Epidemiological data indicate that in the vast majority (probably about 80 %) of cases of cancer exogenous factors (life style, environment) play an essential role (Higginson & Muir, 1977; van Larebeke, 1997). Indeed, there are huge differences (generally a factor of 10 or more) in the age standardized incidence of each type of cancer between different geographical area's having good cancer registers. Not only between industrial countries and developing nations, but also between industrial nations. It is highly likely that these important differences cannot be explained by differences in diagnostic capabilities, and for some cancer types the highest incidences are recorded in third world countries.

Studies on migrants indicate that differences between populations inhabiting different geographical area's are not primarily due to genetic factors, as migrants and their descendants adopt, with time, the cancer incidence pattern of the area in which they immigrated (Thomas & Karagas, 1987). Also important changes in cancer incidence in function of time, in the same population, have been described (Devesa et al., 1995; Tominaga, 1995).

Parents of children suffering of cancer do not, themselves, show an increased risk of cancer (Olsen et al., 1995).

The Finish twin study (Verkasalo et al., 1999) and the Swedish family cancer data base (Hemminki & Vaittinen, 1997) both point to a limited impact of inherited genetic factors on the incidence of cancers, also concerning breast cancer. Even for BRCA mutant carriers external factors are important in determining the eventual occurrence of breast cancer. The cumulative incidence at age 50 amounts to 24 % for such women if born before 1940, and to 67 % if born after 1940 (King et al., 2003). In Iceland the cumulative incidence at age 70 in women carrying the BRCA mutation was 18.6 % (95 % CI = 11.0 % to 29.5 %) in 1920 and 71.9 % (95 % CI = 45.9 % to 100 %) in 2002 (Tryggvadottir et al. 2006).

There is substantial epidemiological evidence for the link between air pollution and cancer, mainly lung cancer. The risk of lung cancer is clearly increased by exposure to polluted air (Cislaghi & Nimis, 1997; Raaschou-Nielsen et al.,

2010; Katanoda et al., 2011; Allen et al., 2013; Heinrich et al., 2013). Air pollution, assessed in terms of biological activity by the limitation of lichen diversity, was, for men, clearly associated with mortality due to lung cancer (Cislaghi & Nimis, 1997). According to the Global Burden of Disease study in 2015, all forms of pollution combined were, in 2015, responsible for 43 % of deaths due to lung cancer.

Possibly, as one would expect on mechanistic basis, also the risk of other forms of cancer might be increased by exposure to polluted air, including breast cancer (Crouse et al., 2010), bladder cancer (Liu et al., 2009) and kidney cancer (Soll-Johanning et al., 1998).

A recent prospective cohort study found an increase in the risk of breast cancer in women in association with a more frequent use of beauty or skincare products (Taylor et al., 2018).

A recent prospective cohort study on 94,668 French adults found that a higher frequency of organic food consumption was associated with a reduced overall risk of cancer (hazard ratio for quartile 4 vs quartile 1, 0.75; 95 % CI, 0.63 - 0.88, P for trend = 0.001) (Baudry et al., 2018).

The International Agency for Research on Cancer has published lists of risk factors it considers to be proven, probable or possible human carcinogens. These lists are available on the website of the IARC (http://www.cancer-environnement.fr/478-Classification-des-substances-cancerogenes.ce.aspx). Also there are thousands of publications in the international scientific literature describing associations between risk factors and an increase in the incidence or mortality from cancer.

Annex 2 References

Alberts B, Bray D, Lewis J, Raff M, Roberts K, Watson JD. Molecular biology of the cell. Garland Publ 1994.

Allen RW, Gombojav E, Barkhasragchaa B, Byambaa T, Lkhasuren O, Amram O et al. An assessment of air pollution and its attributable mortality in Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia. Air Qual.Atmos.Health 2013;6:137-50.

Backhaus T, Brooks BW, Kapustka L. Chemical risk assessment: pressures, perceptions and expectations. Integr Environ Assess Manag 2010;6:323-4.

Basagana X, Esnaola M, Rivas I, Amato F, Alvarez-Pedrerol M, Forns J et al. Neurodevelopmental Deceleration by Urban Fine Particles from Different Emission Sources: A Longitudinal Observational Study. Environ Health Perspect 2016;124:1630-6.

Baudry J, Assmann KE, Touvier M, Allès B, Seconda L, Latino-Martel P et al. Association of frequency of organic food consumption with cancer risk. Findings from the NutriNet-Santé prospective cohort study. JAMA Intern Med 2018;178:1597-606.

Belpomme D, Irigaray P, Sasco AJ, Newby JA, Howard V, Clapp R et al. The growing incidence of cancer: Role of lifestyle and screening detection (Review). Int J Oncol 2007;30:1037-49.

Botto N, Rizza A, Colombo MG, Mazzone AM, Manfredi S, Masetti S et al. Evidence for DNA damage in patients with coronary artery disease. Mutat Res 2001;493:23-30.

Calderon-Gierszal EL, Prins GS. Directed differentiation of human embryonic stem cells into prostate organoids in vitro and its perturbation by low-dose bisphenol A exposure. PLoS One 2015;10:0133238.

Chen M, Hemmerich P, Mikecz A. Platinum-induced autoantibodies target nucleoplasmic antigens related to active transcription. Immunobiology 2002;206:474-83.

Christiansen S, Kortenkamp A, Axelstad M, Boberg J, Scholze M, Jacobsen PR et al. Mixtures of endocrine disrupting contaminants modelled on human high end exposures: an exploratory study in rats. Int J Androl 2012;35:303-16.

Christiansen S, Scholze M, Dalgaard M, Vinggaard AM, Axelstad M, Kortenkamp A et al. Synergistic disruption of external male sex organ development by a mixture of four antiandrogens. Environ Health Perspect 2009;117:1839–46.

Cislaghi C, Nimis PL. Lichens, air pollution and lung cancer. Nature 1997;387:463-4.

Clapp RW, Howe GK, Jacobs M. Environmental and occupational causes of cancer re-visited. J Public Health Policy 2006;27:61-76.

Cohen AJ, Brauer M, Burnett R, Ross Anderson H, Frostad J, Estep K et al. Estimates and 25-year trends of the global burden of disease attributable to ambient air pollution: an analysis of data from the Global Burden of Diseases Study 2015. Lancet 2017;389:1907–18.

Cooper GS, Makris SL, Nietert PJ, Jinot J. Evidence of autoimmune-related effects of trichloroethylene exposure from studies in mice and humans. Environ.Health Perspect 2009;117: 696-702.

Crouse DL, Goldberg MS, Ross NA, Chen H, Labreche F. Postmenopausal breast cancer is associated with exposure to traffic-related air pollution in Montreal, Canada: a case-control study. Environ Health Perspect 2010;118:1578-83.

De Coster S, Van Larebeke N. Endocrine-disrupting chemicals: associated disorders and mechanisms of action. J Environ Public Health 2012:713696.

de Prado Bert P, Mercader EMH, Pujol J, Sunyer J, Mortamais M. The Effects of Air Pollution on the Brain: a Review of Studies Interfacing Environmental Epidemiology and Neuroimaging. Curr Environ Health Rep 2018;5:351-64.

Devesa SS, Blot WJ, Stone BJ, Miller BA, Tarone RE, Fraumeni JFJr .Recent cancer trends in the United States. J Natl Cancer Inst 1995;87:175-82.

Dhooge W, Comhaire F, Van Larebeke N. Opname en effecten van hormoonontregelende stoffen bij de mens. Rapport aan het Belgische Federale Ministerie van Volksgezondheid, 1998.

Diamanti-Kandarakis E, Bourguignon JP, Giudice LC. Endocrine-disrupting chemicals: an Endocrine Society Scientific Statement. Endocr Rev 2009;30:293–342.

Dimakakou E, Johnston HJ, Streftaris G, Cherrie JW. Exposure to Environmental and Occupational Particulate Air Pollution as a Potential Contributor to Neurodegeneration and Diabetes: A Systematic Review of Epidemiological Research. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2018;15. Andrea Di Nisio, Iva Sabovic, Umberto Valente, Simone Tescari, Maria Santa Rocca, Diego Guidolin, Stefano Dall'Acqua, Laura Acquasaliente, Nicola Pozzi, Mario Plebani, Andrea Garolla, Carlo Foresta: Endocrine disruption of androgenic activity by perfluoroalkyl substances: clinical and experimental evidence. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism; Copyright 2018 DOI: 10.1210/jc.2018-01855

Andrea Di Nisio, 1 Iva Sabovic, 1 Umberto Valente, 1 Simone Tescari, 1 Maria Santa Rocca, 1 Diego Guidolin, 2 Stefano Dall'Acqua, 3 Laura Acquasaliente, 4 Nicola Pozzi, 4 Mario Plebani, 5 Andrea Garolla, 1 and Carlo Foresta 1: Endocrine Disruption of Androgenic Activity by Perfluoroalkyl Substances: Clinical and Experimental Evidence . J Clin Endocrinol Metab, April 2019, 104(4):1259–1271

Duncan D. The Chemicals within US. National Geographic 2006;116-43.

Eriksson P, Fischer C, Stenerlow B, Fredriksson A, Sundell-Bergman S. Interaction of gamma-radiation and methyl mercury during a critical phase of neonatal brain development in mice exacerbates developmental neurobehavioural effects. Neurotoxicology 2010;31:223-9.

European Commission. Emerging issues with regard to organ doses. Cognitive and cerebrovascular effects induced by low dose ionizing radiation: EC, 2018.

Ezendam, J., I. Vissers, R. Bleumink, J. G. Vos, and R. Pieters. Immunomodulatory effects of tetrachlorobenzoquinone, a reactive metabolite of hexachlorobenzene. Chem Res Toxicol 2003; 16:688-94.

Fisher JS, Macpherson S, Marchetti N, Sharpe RM. Human 'testicular dysgenesis syndrome': a possible model using in-utero exposure of the rat to dibutyl phthalate. Hum Reprod 2003;18:1383–94.

Flanders WD, Lally CA, Zhu BP, Henley SJ, Thun MJ. Lung Cancer Mortality in Relation to Age, Duration of Smoking, and Daily Cigarette Consumption. Cancer Research 2003;63:6556-62.

Godderis L, Thomas R, Hubbard AE, Tabish AM, Hoet P, Zhang L et al. Effect of chemical mutagens and carcinogens on gene expression profiles in human TK6 cells. PLoS One 2012;7: 39205.

Gore, AC, Chappell VA, Fenton SE, Flaws JA, Nadal A, Prins GS et al. EDC-2: The Endocrine Society's Second Scientific Statement on Endocrine-Disrupting Chemicals. Endocr Rev 2015;36:1-150.

Grindler NM, Allsworth JE, Macones GA, Kannan K, Roehl KA, Cooper AR. Persistent organic pollutants and early menopause in U.S. women. PLoS One 2015;10:0116057.

Hall P, Adami HO, Trichopoulos D, Pedersen NL, Lagiou P, Ekbom A et al. Effect of low doses of ionising radiation in infancy on cognitive function in adulthood: Swedish population based cohort study. BMJ 2004;328:19.

Heinrich J, Thiering E, Rzehak P, Kramer U, Hochadel M, Rauchfuss KM et al. Long-term exposure to NO2 and PM10 and all-cause and cause-specific mortality in a prospective cohort of women. Occup Environ Med 2013;70:179-86.

Hemminki K, Vaittinen P. Familial cancer in Sweden. Int J Oncol 1997;11:273-80.

Higginson J, Muir CS. Determination of the importance of environmental factors in human cancer: the role of epidemiology. Bull Cancer 1977;64:365-84.

Ho SM, Cheong A, Lam HM, Hu WY, Shi GB, Zhu X et al. Exposure of human prostaspheres to bisphenol A epigenetically regulates SNORD family non-coding RNAs via histone modification. Endocrinology 2015;156:3984-95.

Huff J. Issues and controversies surrounding qualitative strategies for identifying and forecasting cancer causing agents in the human environment. Pharmacol Toxicol 1993;72:12-27.

Huff J, Hoel D. Perspective and overview of the concepts and value of hazard identification as the initial phase of risk assessment for cancer and human health. Scand J Work Environ Health 1992;18:83-9.

Humblet O, Birnbaum L, Rimm E, Mittleman MA, Hauser R. Dioxins and cardiovascular disease mortality. Environ Health Perspect 2008;116:1443-8.

Irigaray P, Ogier V, Jacquenet S, Notet V, Sibille P, Mejean L et al. Benzo[a]pyrene impairs beta-adrenergic stimulation of adipose tissue lipolysis and causes weight gain in mice. A novel molecular mechanism of toxicity for a common food pollutant. FEBS J 2006;273:1362-72.

Katanoda K, Sobue T, Satoh H, Tajima K, Suzuki T, Nakatsuka H et al. An association between long-term exposure to ambient air pollution and mortality from lung cancer and respiratory diseases in Japan. J Epidemiol 2011;21:132-43.

King MC, Marks JH, Mandell JB. Breast and ovarian cancer risks due to inherited mutations in BRCA1 and BRCA2. Science 2003; 302:643-6.

Kushi Lawrence H, Doyle C, McCullough M, Rock CL, Demark-Wahnefried W, Bandera EV et al.

American Cancer Society Guidelines on Nutrition and Physical Activity for Cancer Prevention.

CA Cancer J Clin 2012;62:30-67.

La Merrill M, Cirillo PM, Terry MB, Krigbaum NY, Flom JD, Chon BA. Prenatal exposure to the pesticide DDT and hypertension diagnosed in women before age 50: a longitudinal birth cohort study. Environ Health Perspect 2013;121:594–9.

Landrigan PJ, Fuller R, Acosta NJR, Adeyi O, Arnold R, Basu N et al. The Lancet Commission on pollution and health 2017;391:10119.

Laronda MM, Unno K, Ishi K, Serna VA, Butler LM, Mills AA et al. Diethylstilbestrol induces vaginal adenosis by disrupting SMAD/RUNX1- mediated cell fate decision in the Müllerian duct epithelium. Dev Biol 2013;381:5–16.

Lee DH, Porta M, Jacobs DR, Vandenberg LN. Chlorinated persistent organic pollutants, obesity, and type 2 diabetes. Endocr Rev 2014;35:557–601.

Lewtas J. Complex mixtures of air pollutants: characterizing the cancer risk of polycyclic organic matter. Environ Health Perspect 1993;100:211-8.

Little MP, Azizova TV, Bazyka D, Bouffler SD, Cardis E, Chekin S et al. Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Circulatory Disease from Exposure to Low-Level Ionizing Radiation and Estimates of Potential Population Mortality Risks. Environ Health Perspect 2012;120:1503-11.

Liu CC, Tsai SS, Chiu HF, Wu TN, Chen CC, Yang CY. Ambient exposure to criteria air pollutants and risk of death from bladder cancer in Taiwan. Inhal Toxicol 2009;21:48-54.

WCSR Advice 2023-19 |

Manikkam M, Tracey R, Guerrero-Bosagna C, Skinner MK. Pesticide and insect repellent mixture (permethrin and DEET) induces epigenetic transgenerational inheritance of disease and sperm epimutations. Reprod Toxicol 2012;34:708-19.

Manikkam M, Tracey R, Guerrero-Bosagna C, Skinner MK. Dioxin (TCDD) induces epigenetic transgenerational inheritance of adult onset disease and sperm epimutations. PLoS One 2012;7:46249.

Min JY, Cho JS, Lee KJ, Park JB, Park SG, Kim JY et al. Potential role for organochlorine pesticides in the prevalence of peripheral arterial diseases in obese persons: results from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1999-2004. Atherosclerosis 2011;218:200-6.

Mustafa A, Holladay S, Witonsky S, Zimmerman K, Manari A, Countermarsh S et al. Prenatal TCDD causes persistent modulation of the postnatal immune response, and exacerbates inflammatory disease, in 36-week-old lupus-like autoimmune SNF1 mice. Birth Defects Res B Dev Reprod Toxicol 2011;92:82-94.

Olsen JH, Boice JD, Jr., Seersholm N, Bautz A, Fraumeni JF Jr. Cancer in the parents of children with cancer. N Engl J Med 1995;333:1594-9.

Otake M, Schull WJ. Radiation-related brain damage and growth retardation among the prenatally exposed atomic bomb survivors. Int J Radiat Biol 1998;74:159-71.

Parker-Lalomio M, McCann K, Piorkowski J, Freels S, Persky VW. Prenatal exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls and asthma, eczema/hay fever, and frequent ear infections. J Asthma 2017:1-11.

Peto R. IARC Scientific Publications 1986:23-33.

Peto R, Gray R, Brantom P, Grasso P. Effects on 4080 rats of chronic ingestion of N-nitrosodiethylamine or N-nitrosodimethylamine: a detailed dose-response study. Cancer Res 1991a;51:6415-51.

Peto R, Gray R, Brantom P, Grasso P. Dose and time relationships for tumor induction in the liver and esophagus of 4080 inbred rats by chronic ingestion of N-nitrosodiethylamine or N-nitrosodimethylamine. Cancer Res 1991b;51:6452-69.

Pieters R. The popliteal lymph node assay in predictive testing for autoimmunity. Toxicol Lett 2000;112:453-9.

Pieters R. The popliteal lymph node assay: a tool for predicting drug allergies. Toxicology 2001;158:65-9.

Pieters R, Ezendam J, Nierkens S. Chemical-specific properties co-determine the type of adverse immune response. Autoimmun Rev 2003;2:25-9.

Raaschou-Nielsen O, Bak H, Sorensen M, Jensen SS, Ketzel M, Hvidberg M et al. Air pollution from traffic and risk for lung cancer in three Danish cohorts. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2010;19:1284-91.

Renan MJ. How many mutations are required for tumorigenesis? Implications from human cancer data. Mol Carcinog 1993;7:139-46.

Rooney AA, Yang Y, Makris SL. Recent progress and diverse effects in developmental immunotoxicology: overview of a symposium at the 46th Annual SOT Meeting, Charlotte, NC. J.Immunotoxicol 2008:5:395-400.

Schull WJ, Otake M. Cognitive function and prenatal exposure to ionizing radiation. Teratology 1999;59:222-6.

Seelen M, Toro Campos RA, Veldink JH, Visser AE, Hoek G, Brunekreef B et al. Long-Term Air Pollution Exposure and Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis in Netherlands: A Population-based Case-control Study. Environ Health Perspect 2017;125:097023.

Skakkebaek NE, Rajpert-De Meyts E, Main KM. Testicular dysgenesis syndrome: an increasingly common developmental disorder with environmental aspects. Hum Reprod 2001;16:972–78.

Smith EK, White MC, Weir HK, Peipins LA, Thompson TD. Higher incidence of clear cell adenocarcinoma of the cervix and vagina among women born between 1947 and 1971 in the United States. Cancer Causes Control 2012;23:207–11.

Smith KW, Souter I, Dimitriadis I, Ehrlich S, Williams PL, Calafat AM et al. Urinary paraben concentrations and ovarian aging among women from a fertility center. Environ Health Perspect 2013;121:1299-305.

Soll-Johanning H, Bach E, Olsen JH, Tuchsen F. Cancer incidence in urban bus drivers and tramway employees: a retrospective cohort study. Occup Environ Med 1998;55:594-8.

Song P, Li D, Wang X, Zhong X: Effects of Perfluorooctanoic acid exposure during pregnancy on the reproduction and development pf male offspring mice. Andrologia 50 (8): e13059, 2018

Souter I, Smith KW, Dimitriadis I, Ehrlich S, Williams PL, Calafat AM et al. The association of bisphenol-A urinary concentrations with antral follicle counts and other measures of ovarian reserve in women undergoing infertility treatments. Reprod Toxicol 2013;42:224-31.

Suzuki M, Minami A, Nakanishi A, Kobayashi K, Matsuda S, Ogura Y, et al. Atherosclerosis and tumor suppressor molecules (review). Int J Mol Med 2014;34:934-40.

Taylor KW, Troester MA, Herring AH, Engel LS, Nichols HB, Sandler DP et al. Associations between Personal Care Product Use Patterns and Breast Cancer Risk among White and Black Women in the Sister Study. Environ Health Perspect 2018;126:027011.

The Endocrine Disruption Exchange (TEDX). 2017.

Thomas DB, Karagas MR. Cancer in first and second generation Americans. Cancer Res 1987;47:5771-6.

Tomasetti C, Vogelstein B. Cancer etiology. Variation in cancer risk among tissues can be explained by the number of stem cell divisions. Science 2015;347:78–81.

Tominaga S. Recent trends in cancer in Japan and the world. Gan To Kagaku Ryoho 1995;22:1-8.

Trasande L, Vandenberg LN, Bourguignon JP, Myers JP, Slama R, Vom Saal F et al. Peer-reviewed and unbiased research, rather than 'sound science', should be used to evaluate endocrine-disrupting chemicals. J Epidemiol Community Health 2016;70:1051-6.

Trasande L, Zoeller RT, Hass U, Kortenkamp A, Grandjean P, Myers JP et al. Estimating burden and disease costs of exposure to endocrine-disrupting chemicals in the European union. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2015;100:1245-55.

Tryggvadottir L, Sigvaldason H, Olafsdottir GH, Jonasson JG, Jonsson T, Tulinius H et al. Population-based study of changing breast cancer risk in Icelandic BRCA2 mutation carriers, 1920-2000. J Natl Cancer Inst 2006;98:116-22.

Uzumcu M, Zama AM, Oruc E. Epigenetic mechanisms in the actions of endocrine-disrupting chemicals: gonadal effects and role in female reproduction. Reprod Domest Anim 2012;47:338-47.

WCSR Advice 2023-19 |

Van Delft JH, Van Agen E, Van Breda SG, Herwijnen MH, Staal YC, Kleinjans JC. Discrimination of genotoxic from non-genotoxic carcinogens by gene expression profiling. Carcinogenesis 2004;25:1265-76.

Vandenberg LN, Maffini MV, Schaeberle CM, Ucci AA, Sonnenschein C, Rubin BS et al. Perinatal exposure to the xenoestrogen bisphenol-A induces mammary intraductal hyperplasias in adult CD-1 mice. Reprod Toxicol 2008;26:210-9.

Van Larebeke N. Data and considerations pointing to the importance of environmental factors in the development of human cancers. Report to the Flemish Environmental Protection Agency, 1997.

Verkasalo PK, Kaprio J, Koskenvuo M, Pukkala E. Genetic predisposition, environment and cancer incidence: a nationwide twin study in Finland, 1976-1995. Int J Cancer 1999;83:743-9.

Wadia PR, Cabaton NJ, Borrero MD, Rubin BS, Sonnenschein C, Shioda T et al. Low-dose BPA exposure alters the mesenchymal and epithelial transcriptomes of the mouse fetal mammary gland. PLoS One 2013;8:e63902.

Wang W, Hafner KS, Flaws JA. In utero bisphenol A exposure disrupts germ cell nest breakdown and reduces fertility with age in the mouse. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 2014;276:157–64.

WHO – World Health Organization. Increasing fruit and vegetable consumption to reduce the risk of noncommunicable diseases. WHO; Geneva 2014.

Yang YJ, Hong YC, Oh SY, Park MS, Kim H, Leem JH et al. Bisphenol A exposure is associated with oxidative stress and inflammation in postmenopausal women. Environ Res 2009;109:797-801.

Zama AM, Uzumcu M. Fetal and neonatal exposure to the endocrine disruptor methoxychlor causes epigenetic alterations in adult ovarian genes. Endocrinology 2009;150:4681–91.

Ziv-Gal A, Wang W, Zhou C, Flaws JA. The effects of in utero bisphenol A exposure on reproductive capacity in several generations of mice. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 2015;284:354–62.

Annex 3 – effects that are not sufficiently covered by classical toxicological tests

1. Effects of real life exposures, low dose and non-monotonic effects

1.1. What is meant by "Low dose".

There is by now extensive evidence for the existence of low dose effects based on experimental, and molecular epidemiological studies. Low-dose effects have been defined by the National Toxicology Program as any biological changes 1) occurring in the range of typical human exposures or 2) occurring at doses lower than those typically used in standard testing protocols, i.e. doses below those tested in traditional toxicology assessments (2). Other definitions of low dose include 3) a dose below the lowest dose at which a biological change (or damage) for a specific chemical has been measured in the past, i.e. any dose below the lowest observed effect level or lowest observed adverse effect level (LOAEL), or 4) a dose administered to an animal that produces blood concentrations of that chemical in the range of what has been measured in the general human population (i.e. not exposed occupationally, and often referred to as an environmentally relevant dose because it creates an internal dose relevant to concentrations of the chemical measured in humans) (Vandenberg et al., 2012). Similarly, with regard to genotoxic agents the term low

dose is used to indicate low intensity exposures such as those occurring through diet or through environmental exposures.

1.2. Evidence for low dose effects of endocrine disrupting agents

Physiological hormones have low dose effects typically in the picomolar to nanomolar range (Vandenberg et al., 2012). The free concentrations that actually bring about effects in cells are even lower, for example 0.1-9 pg/ml for estradiol (Vandenberg et al., 2012). The mechanisms responsible for low dose effects of substances binding to receptors are known. At low hormone levels, a 10-fold increase in hormone concentration can have a 9-fold increase in receptor occupancy, whereas at high doses of hormone, a 10-fold increase in hormone concentration produces a less than 1.1-fold increase in receptor occupancy (Welshons et al., 2003). Also, low-dose effects have been observed in man-made chemicals from a number of classes with a wide range of uses including natural and synthetic hormones, insecticides, fungicides, herbicides, plastics, UV protection, and other industrial processes. Furthermore, low-dose effects have been observed in chemicals that target a number of endocrine endpoints including many that act as estrogens and antiandrogens as well as others that affect the metabolism, secretion, or synthesis of a number of hormones (Vandenberg et al., 2012; Vandenberg & Pelch, 2021). For instance, in animals Bisphenol A was shown to have low dose effects on the mammary gland (Markey et al., 2001; 2003; Moral et al., 2008; Murray et al., 2007) and on spermatogenesis (Hass et al., 2016). It should be noted that the study of low dose effects is apparently affected by conflicts of interest: As of December 2004, there were 115 published in vivo studies concerning low-dose effects of BPA. Among government-funded published studies, 94 of 104 (90%) report significant effects at doses of BPA < 50 mg/kg/day. If we consider industry-funded studies, not a single one (0 of 11, or 0%) reports significant effects at the same levels (Vom Saal & Hughes, 2005). By now (March 2022) a very large number of papers in the peer reviewed literature report low dose effect of a series of man-made products (bisphenol derivatives, phthalates, tributyl tin, nonylphenol, perfluorinate substances, insecticides, fungicides, PCBs, dioxin-like substances, organophosphorus flame retardants, organophosphorus pesticides), affecting molecular biological and physiological functions. These include DNA methylation and epigenetic effects, neurodevelopment, behavioral, cognitive and other neurological aspects including transgenerational effects on behavior, processes involved in carcinogenesis, thyroid function, metabolism and regulation of body fat, regulation of the immune system and immune system related diseases, male and female fertility including transgenerational effects on Leydig cells of the testis, fluid and electrolyte homeostasis, the blood-testis barrier). Even antagonistic interactions between EDCs were observed (Shi et al., 2021).

Regarding endocrine disrupting agents, even infinitesimally low levels of exposure - indeed, any level of exposure at all - may cause endocrine or reproductive abnormalities, particularly if exposure occurs during a critical developmental window (Sheehan et al., 1999). Balaguer et al. (2017) describe three mechanisms explaining high-affinity interactions (and so possible low dose effects) between EDCs and nuclear receptors. The mycoestrogen α -zearanol, although structurally different from 17 β -estradiol, displays a similar interaction with the ligand binding pocket of the estrogen receptor α . In contrast, organotins such as TBT do not recapitulate any of the specific interactions made by the classical ligands, but use a Sn–S covalent interaction to bind to and modulate the transcriptional activity of the Retinoid X Receptor - peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (RXR-PPAR) heterodimer at nanomolar concentrations. In the third reported mechanism, a pesticide and a pharmaceutical compound were found to interact with each other in the Pregnane X Receptor Ligand binding pocket, forming a 'supramolecular ligand' that is a more potent activator than either of the two chemicals alone.

1.3. Non-monotonic dose -effect relationships

Also, the existence of non-monotonic dose -effect relationships has by now been proven. EDCs may exert nontraditional-dose-response curves, such as inverted-U or U-shaped curves (vom Saal et al., 2007). Both of these concepts have been known for hormone and neurotransmitter actions, but only in the past decades have they begun to be appreciated for EDCs. Several mechanisms have been identified and studied that demonstrate how hormones and EDCs produce nonmonotonic responses in cells, tissues, and animals. These mechanisms include cytotoxicity, cell and tissue-specific receptors and cofactors, receptor selectivity, receptor down-regulation and desensitization, receptor competition, and endocrine negative feedback loops (Vandenberg et al., 2012; Vandenberg, 2014). Nonmonotonic dose-response curves have been observed for many physiological hormones (in cell culture, in animal studies) and also for man-made substances and metals as well (in cell culture, in animal studies. (See tables 6 and 7 in Vandenberg et al., 2012). Interestingly, in animal studies the endpoints affected by non-monotonic dose-response curves range from higher-order events such as the number of viable offspring (which could be due to alterations in the reproductive tissues themselves or the reproductive axis), to behavioral effects, to altered organ weights, and to lower order events such as gene expression. Also, there are several epidemiological studies reporting non-monotonic dose-response curves for natural hormones in humans (see table 8 in Vandenberg et al., 2012). For instance, in older women age-adjusted incidence of coronary events is highest at the extreme quintiles of bioavailable testosterone blood levels (RR 1.79 and 1.96, compared to the third quintile) (Laughlin et al., 2010). Also, among underweight and obese male manual workers in Vienna (Austria), both higher (hypergonadal) and lower (hypogonadal) bioavailable testosterone concentrations were associated with an increased mental depression score (Kratzik et al., 2007). Also, for man-made chemicals, dioxin-like chemicals and metals reporting non-monotonic dose-response curves were reported in human epidemiological studies. Among non-diabetic Americans, adjusted Odds ratio's for quartiles of non-dioxin-like PCBs were 1.1, 1.3, 1.8 and 1.0 (Lee et al., 2007). By now (March 2022) a very large number of papers in the peer reviewed literature report non-monotonic dose response curves for a series of manmade products (including no-dioxin-like PCBs, perfluorinated substances; chlordecone, an organochlorine insecticide; Bisphenols A, F and S; the phthalate DEHP; the anticonceptive ethinyl estradiol, propylparaben, the herbicide glyphosate, the anti-androgen cyproterone acetate; tranilast, genistein-phthalate mixtures, triclosan, inorganic arsene, dioxins, glyphosate, resveratrol, permethrin, chlorothalonil, nitrate, butylparabenbutylated hydroxyanisole, butylated hydroxytoluene, ,propyl gallate), affecting molecular biological and (patho)-physiological functions. These include the metabolic syndrome, female fertility, male fertility, thyroid and sex-steroid hormones, protein synthesis and energy metabolism, the blood-testis barrier, DNA methylation, mammary gland alterations, bone metabolism and structure, locomotor behavior, androgen receptor agonism, body mass index trajectories over the first 12 years of human life, mitochondrial DNA copy number and telomere shortening, adverse effects in multiple organs, innate immune cells in the rat testes, anxiety-like and exploratory behavior in rats and gene expression changes in the cortical brain, changes in anogenital distance, changes in gene expression involved in oxidative stress and detoxification, interactions with chemotherapy, neurotoxicity, insulin resistance, human breast cancer risk, spindle abnormalities and chromosome misalignment in oocytes.

When nonmonotonic dose-response curves occur, the effects of low doses cannot be predicted by the effects observed at high doses. Although it is still uncertain too which extent these non-monotonic dose-effect curves occur with regard to pollutants or man-made substances, the possibility of their occurrence should be taken into account. Furthermore, endocrine disruption can have opposite effects in function of the developmental stage considered (Parent et al., 2016).

1.4. Low dose effects of genotoxic agents

It is evidently very difficult to collect data on the link between exposures and mutations in human beings. Experiments are ethically unacceptable. The structure, replication and repair of DNA and the interactions of DNA with exogenous agents that can disturb the structure of DNA have, however, been conserved to a high degree throughout the phylogenetic evolution. So, for instance, a given mutagen induces the same primary class of base pair changes in the Ames test strain Salmonella TA100 and in the bacterium E. coli as in mammalian cells in vitro, in rodents in vivo and in the p53 tumor suppressor gene in human cancers associated with exposure to the same mutagen (DeMarini, 2000).

For genotoxic agents there is no critical threshold under which there is no mutagenic effect at all. Generally an approximately linear relation is observed between the dose of a genotoxic substance and the amount of DNA adducts (Phillips et al, 1988; Lutz, 1990). For the induction of double strand breaks by X-rays a strictly linear dose effect relation has been observed between 100 gray (Gy) and 1 mGy (Rothkam & Lobrich, 2003). According to the International Commission for Protection against Environmental Mutagens and Carcinogens (Ehrenberg et al., 1983) and according to Lutz (1990) a linear relation is also generally observed between the dose of a mutagenic chemical and the number of induced mutations (for low doses and for most, but not for all, chemicals, see also Ehrenberg et al., 1996).

In some cases higher doses can have a proportionally larger effect than low doses, especially when the agent in question has, on itself, two different but synergistically acting effects, such as a mutagenic effect and a cell division stimulating effect, or when the dose is very high so that the DNA repair mechanism cannot cope any more (Lutz, 1990).

However, for ionizing radiation very low exposures could be, also in human beings, relatively more mutagenic (per unit of dose) than more intensive exposures (Simonsson et al., 2008; Vandevoorde et al., 2015). This relative increase in mutagenicity at very low doses is however not generally accepted as there are few studies, and a potential bias is explored in a recent publication (Harbron et al., 2017). A relative increase in mutagenicity at very low doses could occur when an exposure occurs in the absence of full expression of the corresponding DNA repair mechanisms. Induction, by environmental carcinogens such as benzo(a)pyrene and by anti-cancer drugs, of the nucleotide excision repair (NER) system, repairing the DNA damage of most environmental and man-made carcinogens, has been observed (Christmann & Kaina, 2013). So it seems likely that low dose hypersensitivity could also occur in relation to exposure to genotoxic chemicals. Also non-targeted effects, effects shown by cells who did not receive a direct hit, including bystander effects (probably mediated through intercellular communication) and induced genetic instability (through the activation of endogenic mutagenic mechanisms) could contribute to larger mutagenic effects per unit of dose at very low doses (Kadhim et al., 2013).

There is a convincing amount of evidence indicating that internal exposures to a series of substances, as occurring in the general population, are associated with mutagenic or genotoxic effects (Bolognesi, 2003; Farmer et al., 2003; Perera & Vineis, 2011; DeMarini, 2013). In the Flemish human biomonitoring on the general population, internal exposure to metabolites of benzene, toluene and phthalates, internal exposure to cadmium, lead, chromium, arsenic, thallium, dichlorophenol, dioxin-like substances and perfluorooctanoic acid were associated with genotoxic effects (van Larebeke et al., 2004; Koppen et al., 2007; De Coster et al., 2008; Franken et al., 2017; De Craemer et al., 2016). In the New Generis study on neonates, transplacental exposure to oxidative fat metabolites, dioxins and PCBs

was associated with mutagenic effects (Kleinjans et al., 2015). In the Environage study on 463 Flemish motherneonate pairs, prenatal exposure to particulate air pollution with median PM2.5 and black carbon levels of respectively 13.61 μ g/m3 (far below the European Air Quality standard of 25 μ g/m3) and 0.90 μ g/m3 was associated with significant increases in the placenta in mutation rate, methylation of DNA repair genes and methylation of the p53 tumor suppressor gene. Alu mutation rate was associated with greater exposure to PM 2.5 (r=0.26, p<0.0001) and black carbon (r=0.33, p<0.0001). (Neven et al., 2018). The Flemish biomonitoring studies suggested that persons with more unfavorable genetic traits concerning genotoxic agents have less chance of surviving until age 50 - 65, probably because they are at a higher risk of morbidity and mortality from chronic diseases (Ketelslegers et al., 2011).

1.5. Effects on gene expression of real life exposures

The Flemish biomonitoring produced a substantial amount of evidence indicating that internal exposures occurring in the general population can be associated with changes in gene expression that could be relevant in terms of risk of cancer. Among a random sample of Flemish adults an association was observed between the expression of a number of genes related to carcinogenesis and internal exposure to pollutants (Van Leeuwen et al., 2008). Internal exposure to pollutants showed an association with tumor-associated protein levels in adults: positive exposure-effect relationships were found for carcinoembryonic antigen (urinary cadmium, t,t'- muconic acid, 1-hydroxypyrene, blood lead, serum levels of p,p'-DDE above the p90), prostate specific antigen above p90 (urinary cadmium), values of p53 above the p90 (higher serum levels of p,p'-DDE, hexachlorobenzene and marker (De Coster et al., 2008). Among Flemish adults De Coster et al. (2013) found significant changes in the expression of a series of genes in association with cadmium, lead, PCBs, dioxin, hexachlorobenzene, p,p'-DDE, benzene, and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Among Flemish adolescents Croes et al. (2014) observed associations between internal exposure to mercury and a series of genes some of which are linked to the functioning of the nervous system and/or cancer. Among 134 Flemish adults aged 50 - 65, substantial associations, in persons carrying certain genetic polymorphisms, between combined internal exposure to carcinogenic substances (cadmium, lead, polychlorinated biphenyls, p,p'dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene, hexachlorobenzene and 1-OH-pyrene) and changes in expression of genes which are known to have a direct link with carcinogenesis were found (Espin-Perez et al., 2015). In Flemish middle-aged men and women sex-specific associations were observed between particulate matter exposure and the expression of genes, some of which featured in pathways related to carcinogenesis such as cell-cell communication, signaling by Type 1 Insulin-like Growth Factor, Insulin receptor signaling cascade, packaging of telomere ends and telomere maintenance (Vrijens et al., 2017).

In the context of the Norwegian BraMat cohort, internal exposure in utero to as well genotoxic as non-genotoxic carcinogens affected expression of genes relevant for carcinogenesis (Hochstenbach et al., 2012).

Ember et al. (2002) proposed that measuring the expression of oncogenes and of oncosuppressor genes is a proper and early molecular epidemiological biomarker of carcinogen exposure and a tool for risk assessment. Measurement of the expression of such genes could also contribute to the development of a more personalised treatment of cancer (Duffy et al., 2016; Kamel & Al-Almoudi, 2017; Yang & West, 2018).

2. Exposures in early life are of critical importance

Past findings and derived concepts indicate that several adult diseases represent late onset consequences of early exposures (Herbst et al., 1971; Skakkebaek et al., 2001; Kleinjans et al., 2015; Martens et al., 2016). Early exposures to EDCs can have huge impact on development and on the risk of diseases such as adult reproductive failure, cancer, obesity, diabetes and metabolic syndrome, and neurodevelopmental disorders among others (Gore et al., 2015). Fetal exposure to dietary carcinogens seems to induce molecular events that indicate increased cancer risks together with other adverse health effects such as reduced birth weight and head circumference (Kleinjans et al., 2015). Childhood cancer, in particular leukemia among boys, can be causally related to the maternal dietary intake of carcinogenic substances during pregnancy (Kleinjans et al., 2015). Fetal exposure to mutagens such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons also increases the risk of cancer and neurodevelopmental disorders (Perera et al., 2011). Telomeres, markers of biological ageing are highly variable at birth and it has been identified recently that maternal exposures to air pollution is associated with telomere length of the next generation (Martens et al., 2017).

Besides these examples of early disorganization of health for the rest of life, fetal life is also a critical period due to occurrence of unique processes such as brain development. As an example, disruption of thyroid hormone promotion of brain development during fetal and early postnatal life has detrimental consequences on lifelong intellectual abilities (Bellanger et al., 2015).

3. Complex mixtures and synergistic effects

Exposure to combinations of chemicals is the dominant way of exposure in everyday life. More than 300 chemicals have been measured in cord blood samples at birth (Woodruff et al., 2011; Rosofsky et al., 2017; Koppen et al., 2009). It is not known how these chemicals interact and at what exposure levels these combinations may cause biological effects that pose health risks. A major problem in relation to the effect of combined exposures, is the possibility of synergistic interactions between substances with different modes of actions.

That man-made chemicals and pollutants can have synergistic effects through the activation of nuclear receptors has by now been proven. Ligands of the RXR receptor and ligands of the partner receptors (which form active heterodimers with the RXR receptor) can act synergistically to activate heterodimers (Germain et al., 2002). This regulatory control of nuclear signaling pathways by multiple RXR heterodimers allows environmental RXR ligands to potentially trigger a multitude of adverse effects on human health (Balaguer et al., 2017). Delfosse et al. (2015) recently demonstrated that a pharmaceutical estrogen (the contraceptive 17α -ethinylestradiol EE2) and a persistent organochlorine pesticide (trans-nonachlor (TNC)), both exhibiting low efficacy when studied separately, cooperatively bind to the Pregnane X Receptor (PXR), leading to synergistic activation. Both biophysical and cellbased analyses showed that each ligand enhances the binding affinity of the other one, so the binary mixture binds 100-fold more avidly to PXR than TNC and EE2 alone, and induces a substantial biological response at doses at which each chemical individually is inactive (Balaguer et al., 2017). This study provided the first detailed mechanistic explanation and a proof of concept for the synergistic action of a mixture (cocktail) of compounds via their simultaneous interaction with a nuclear receptor (Balaguer et al., 2017).

A major problem in relation to the effect of combined exposures is the possibility of synergistic interactions between substances with different modes of actions. An example of this, important in carcinogenesis, is tumor promotion, an important topic in the early research on carcinogenesis, abundantly studied through in vivo experiments (Slaga, 1983). Tumor promotors such as the phorbol ester 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate (TPA) have a very strong synergetic effect on carcinogenesis when given after an initiating (genotoxic) carcinogen. Exposure to tumor promotors leads to the fact that even a low dose of a carcinogen can induce cancers (Burns et al., 1983; Ehrenberg et al., 1996). Dioxins and some other substances binding on the AhR receptor probably have a tumor promoting activity. Tumor promotion might well be responsible for the human cancer risk in association with exposure to dioxins and dioxin-like substances, as these might act on cells already initiated for carcinogenesis by endogenous or environmental mutagens (McGregor et al. 1998; Schwarz and Appel, 2005; Van Larebeke et al., 2015).

It is not known whether synergistic interactions occur indeed frequently outside of the tumor promotion phenomenon. For instance, as to PFAS mixtures, additivity seems to describe their joint effects (Mumtaz et al., 2021; Dale et al., 2022). However, the fact that synergistic interactions can occur implies that this possibility should be taken into account.

4. Epigenetic and transgenerational effects

Gene expression is not only regulated by transcription factors, but is also influenced, in a longer term, by epigenetic changes including methylation of cytosine residues on DNA, post-translational modification of histones, nucleosome remodeling by "nucleosome remodeling" ATPases (adenosine triphosphatases) and altered microRNA (micro ribonucleic acid) expression. Epigenetic changes can lead to transgenerational effects (Gore et al., 2015).

Much direct experimental evidence now shows that disruption of epigenetic processes by chemicals is a carcinogenic mode of action that leads to altered gene functions playing causal roles in cancer initiation and progression (Parfett & Desaulniers, 2017). Four causal mechanisms participating in pathways to persistent epigenetic gene silencing (of tumor suppressor genes) were considered: covalent histone modification, nucleosome remodeling, non-coding RNA interaction and DNA methylation. Within these four interacting mechanisms, 25 epigenetic toxicity pathway components (SET1, MLL1, KDM5, G9A, SUV39H1, SETDB1, EZH2, JMJD3, CBX7, CBX8, BMI, SUZ12, HP1, MPP8, DNMT1, DNMT3A, DNMT3B, TET1, MeCP2, SETDB2, BAZ2A, UHRF1, CTCF, HOTAIR and ANRIL) were found to have experimental evidence showing that functional perturbations played "driver" roles in human cellular transformation (Parfett & Desaulniers, 2017). A systematic review by Dik et al. (2012) found changes in histone modifications and hence gene expression in association with exposure to xenobiotic stressors, mainly heavy metals. For several environmental exposures including metals (cadmium, arsenic, nickel, chromium, and methylmercury), peroxisome proliferators (trichloroethylene, dichloroacetic acid, and trichloroacetic acid (TCA)), air pollutants (particulate matter, black carbon, and benzene), and endocrine-disrupting/reproductive toxicants (diethylstilbestrol, bisphenol A, persistent organic pollutants, and dioxin), it has been proved that chemicals can alter epigenetic marks, and that the same or similar epigenetic alterations can be found in patients with the disease of concern or in diseased tissues (Baccarelli & Bollati, 2009). Baccarelli et al (2009) found decreased repeated-element methylation after exposure to traffic particles. In a study on 78 gas station attendants, 77 traffic police officers, and 58 unexposed referents in Milan, hypermethylation in tumor suppressor p15 and hypomethylation in Melanomaassociated Antigen 1 MAGE-1 genes were associated with increasing airborne benzene levels (Bollati et al., 2007). In this study altered DNA methylation, reproducing the aberrant epigenetic patterns found in malignant cells, was linked to low-level carcinogen exposure (Bollati et al., 2007).

In a Swedish study children had an increased risk of asthma in the first 6 years of life if their grandmothers smoked during early pregnancy, independent of maternal smoking. Importantly, this exhibited a exposure-response

relationship and was associated with a persistent childhood asthma phenotype. These findings support possible epigenetic transmission of risk from environmental exposures in previous generations (Lodge et al., 2018).

5. Ligand-specific effects

The superfamily of nuclear receptors (NR) is a group of 48 ligand-activated transcription factors that play important roles in metabolism, homeostasis, reproduction and normal development. They are additionally often linked to pathologies such as neurodegenerative and metabolic diseases, inflammation and cancer (Lee et al., 2008; Skerrett et al., 2014; Schulman et al., 2010; Balaguer et al., 2017; Dhiman et al., 2018; Sala & Ampe, 2018). Recently, there is growing evidence supporting the involvement of multiple nuclear receptors other than the estrogen and progesterone receptors, in the regulation of various processes important to the initiation and progression of breast cancer (Doan et al., 2017). Nuclear receptors have evolved throughout the fylogenetic evolution as proteins specially selected for binding to DNA. By binding a ligand they acquire, after additional association with co-activators or corepressors, the capacity to bind to specific DNA sequences (Alberts et al., 1994). But the binding of the ligand is not the only interaction that determines the genomic action of nuclear receptors, coregulators, which are either coactivators or corepressors, also play a role (Dasgupta et al., 2014). The ligand can also intervene in determining which coregulators are bound to the receptor (Li et al., 2018).

Quite recently it has been shown that the type of the ligand (thus the detailed chemical structure of the ligand) is determining to which DNA sequences the ligand-bound receptor binds. For instance, the participation of alternative xenobiotic responsive elements (XREs) (specific DNA sequences) in the AhR transcriptional response suggests that the binding of a particular ligand might adapt the structure of the AhR to permit binding to a particular XRE sequence (Guyot et al., 2013). The model hypothesizes that the AhR-mediated transcriptional response is modulated by selective ligands of the receptor (Guyot et al., 2013), in accord with the selective AhR modulator (SAhRM) concept that was initially described by Safe and McDougal (2002). Selective modulation of sex hormone receptors has been studied for some time (Cappelletti et al., 2003; Shanle & Xu, 2011).

Ligand specific effects could be exploited for therapeutic aims, for instance in the development of hormone replacement therapy without carcinogenic side effects (breast cancer) (Diamanti-Kandarakis et al., 2003). Carbidopa, a drug used for treating Parkinson's disease, is also a SAhRM and inhibits pancreatic cancer cell and tumor growth (Safe, 2017).

However, ligand specific effects were also described for xenoestrogens (Routledge et al., 2000; Watanabe et al., 2003; Shanle & Xu, 2011). Bisphenol AF and bisphenol S, used as replacements for bisphenol A, have also agonistic activity for estrogen receptors. However, bisphenol A, bisphenol AF and bisphenol S differentially recruit coregulators and so have different biological effects (Li et al., 2018).

So it seems likely that the many chemicals that bind to receptors with transcription factor functions might have effects that differ from the effects of the physiological ligands and hormones (for example see Zhang et al.,2022). These effects cannot easily be predicted and might lead to adverse health effects.

Annex 3 References

Baccarelli A, Bollati V. Epigenetics and environmental chemicals. Curr Opin Pediatr 2009;21:243-51.

Balaguer, P, Delfosse V, Grimaldi M, Bourquet W. Structural and functional evidences for the interactions between nuclear hormone receptors and endocrine disruptors at low doses. CR Biol 2017;340:414-20.

Bellanger M, Demeneix B, Grandjean P, Zoeller RT, Trasande L. Neurobehavioral deficits, diseases, and associated costs of exposure to endocrine-disrupting Chemicals in the European Union J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2015;100:1256–66.

Bollati, V, Baccarelli A, Hou L, Bonzini M, Fustinoni S, Cavallo D et al. A. Changes in DNA methylation patterns in subjects exposed to low-dose benzene. Cancer Res 2007; 67:876-80.

Bolognesi C. Genotoxicity of pesticides: a review of human biomonitoring studies. Mutat Res 2003; 543:251-72.

Burns F, Albert R, Altshuler B, Morris E. Approach to risk assessment for genotoxic carcinogens based on data from the mouse skin initiation-promotion model. Environ-Health-Perspect 1983;50:309-20.

Cappelletti, V, Saturno G, Miodini P, Korner W, Daidone G. Selective modulation of ER-beta by estradiol and xenoestrogens in human breast cancer cell lines. Cell Mol.Life Sci 2003;60:567-76.

Christmann M, Kaina B. Transcriptional regulation of human DNA repair genes following genotoxic stress: trigger mechanisms, inducible responses and genotoxic adaptation. Nucleic Acids Res 2013;41:8403-20.

Croes K, De Coster S, De Galan S, Morrens B, Loots I, Van de Mieroop E et al. Health effects in the Flemish population in relation to low levels of mercury exposure: from organ to transcriptome level. Int.J.Hyg.Environ.Health 2014;217:239-47.

Dasgupta S, Lonard DM, O'Malley BW. Receptor Coactivators: Master Regulators of Human Health and Disease. Annu Rev Med 2014;65:279–92.

De Coster S, Koppen G, Bracke M, Schroijen C, Den Hond E, Nelen V et al. Pollutant effects on genotoxic parameters and tumor-associated protein levels in adults: a cross sectional study. Environ Health 2008;7:26.

De Coster S, van Leeuwen D, Jennen D, Koppen G, Den Hond E, Nelen V et al. Gender-specific transcriptomic response to environmental exposure in Flemish adults. Environ Mol Mutagen 2013;54:574-88.

DeMarini DM. Influence of DNA repair on mutation spectra in Salmonella. Mutat Res 2000;450:5-17.

DeMarini DM. Genotoxicity biomarkers associated with exposure to traffic and near-road atmospheres: a review. Mutagenesis 2013;28:485-505.

De Craemer S, Croes K, Van Larebeke N, Sioen I, Schoeters G, Loots I et al. Investigating unmetabolized polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in adolescents' urine as biomarkers of environmental exposure. Chemosphere 2016;155:48-56.

Delfosse, V, Dendele B, Huet T, Grimaldi M, Boulahtouf A, Gerbal- Chaloin S et al. Synergistic activation of human pregnane X receptor by binary cocktails of pharmaceutical and environmental compounds, Nat Commun 2015;6:8089.

Dhiman VK, Bolt MJ, White KP. Nuclear receptors in cancer - uncovering new and evolving roles through genomic analysis. Nat Rev Genet 2018;19:160-74.

Diamanti-Kandarakis E, Sykiotis GP, Papavassiliou AG. Selective modulation of postmenopausal women: cutting the Gordian knot of hormone replacement therapy with breast carcinoma. Cancer 2003; 97:12-20.

Dik, S, Scheepers PT, Godderis L. Effects of environmental stressors on histone modifications and their relevance to carcinogenesis: a systematic review. Crit Rev Toxicol 2012;42:491-500.

Doan TB, Graham JD, Clarke CL. Emerging functional roles of nuclear receptors in breast cancer. J Mol Endocrinol 2017;58:169-90.

Duffy M, O'Donovan N, McDermott E, Crown J. Validated biomarkers: The key to precision treatment in patients with breast cancer. Breast 2016;29:192-201.

L. Ehrenberg, E. Moustacchi, and S. Osterman-Golkar. International Commission for Protection Against Environmental Mutagens and Carcinogens. Dosimetry of genotoxic agents and dose-response relationships of their effects. Mutat.Res. 123 (2):121-182, 1983.

Ehrenberg L, Granath F, Törnqvist, M. Macromolecule adducts as biomarkes of exposure to environmental mutagens in human populations. Environ Health Perspect 1996;104:423-8.

Ember I, Gyongyi Z, Kiss I, Ghodratollah N, Arany I. The possible relationship between onco/suppressor gene expression and carcinogen exposure in vivo: evaluation of a potential biomarker in preventive and predictive medicine. Anticancer Res 2002;22:2109-16.

Espin-Perez A, de Kok TM, Jennen DG, Hendrickx DM, De Coster S, Schoeters G et al. Distinct genotypedependent differences in transcriptome responses in humans exposed to environmental carcinogenes. Carcinogenesis 2015;36:1154-61.

Farmer PB, Singh R, Kaur B, Sram RJ, Binkova B, Kalina I et al. Molecular epidemiology studies of carcinogenic environmental pollutants. Effects of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in environmental pollution on exogenous and oxidative DNA damage. Mutat Res 2003;544:397-402.

Franken C, Koppen G, Lambrechts N, Govarts E, Bruckers L, Den Hond E et al. Environmental exposure to human carcinogens in teenagers and the association with DNA damage. Environ Res 2017;152:165-74.

Germain P, Iyer J, Zechel C, Gronemeyer H. Co-regulator recruitment and the mechanism of retinoic acid receptor synergy. Nature 2002;415:187-192.

Gore, AC, Chappell VA, Fenton SE, Flaws JA, Nadal A, Prins GS et al. EDC-2: The Endocrine Society's Second Scientific Statement on Endocrine-Disrupting Chemicals. Endocr Rev 2015;36:1-150.

Guyot E, Chevallier A, Barouki R, Coumoul X. The AhR twist: ligand-dependent AhR signaling and pharmacotoxicological implications. Drug Discov Today 2013;18:479-86.

R. Harbron, E. A. Ainsbury, S. D. Bouffler, R. J. Tanner, J. S. Eakins, and M. S. Pearce. Enhanced radiation dose and DNA damage associated with iodinated contrast media in diagnostic X-ray imaging. Br.J.Radiol. 90 (1079):20170028, 2017.

U. Hass, S. Christiansen, J. Boberg, M. G. Rasmussen, K. Mandrup, and M. Axelstad. Low-dose effect of developmental bisphenol A exposure on sperm count and behaviour in rats. Andrology. 4 (4):594-607, 2016.

Herbst AL, Ulfelder H, Poskanzer DC. Adenocarcinoma of the vagina. Association of maternal stilbestrol therapy with tumor appearance in young women. N Engl J Med. 1971;284:878–81.

Hochstenbach K, van Leeuwen DM, Gmuender H, Gottschalk RW, Lovik M, Granum B et al. Global gene expression analysis in cord blood reveals gender-specific differences in response to carcinogenic exposure in utero. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2012;21:1756-67.

Kadhim M, Salomaa S, Wright E, Hildebrandt G, Belyakov OV, Prise KM et al. Non-targeted effects of ionising radiation--implications for low dose risk. Mutat Res 2013;752:84-98.

Kamel HFM, Al-Amodi HSAB. Exploitation of Gene Expression and Cancer Biomarkers in Paving the Path to Era of Personalized Medicine. Genomics Proteomics Bioinformatics 2017;15:220-35.

Ketelslegers HB, Godschalk RW, Gottschalk RW, Knaapen AM, Koppen G, Schoeters G et al. Prevalence of at-risk genotypes for genotoxic effects decreases with age in a randomly selected population in Flanders: a cross sectional study. Environ Health 2011;10:85.

Kleinjans, J, Botsivali M, Kogevinas M, Merlo DF. Fetal exposure to dietary carcinogens and risk of childhood cancer: what the NewGeneris project tells us. BMJ 2015;351:4501.

Koppen G, Den Hond E, Nelen V, Van De Mieroop E, Bruckers L, Bilau M et al. Organochlorine and heavy metals in newborns: results from the Flemish Environment and Health Survey (FLEHS 2002-2006). Environ Int 2009;35:1015-22.

Koppen G, Verheyen G, Maes A, Van Gorp U, Schoeters G, Hond ED et al. A battery of DNA effect biomarkers to evaluate environmental exposure of Flemish adolescents. J Appl Toxicol 2007;27: 238-46.

C. W. Kratzik, G. Schatzl, J. E. Lackner, G. Lunglmayr, N. Brandstatter, E. Rucklinger, and J. Huber. Mood changes, body mass index and bioavailable testosterone in healthy men: results of the Androx Vienna Municipality Study. BJU.Int. 100 (3):614-618, 2007.

G. A. Laughlin, V. Goodell, and E. Barrett-Connor. Extremes of endogenous testosterone are associated with increased risk of incident coronary events in older women. J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab 95 (2):740-747, 2010.

Lee JS, Kim KI, Baek SH. Nuclear receptors and coregulators in inflammation and cancer. Cancer Lett 2008;267:189-96.

D. H. Lee, I. K. Lee, M. Porta, M. Steffes, and D. R. Jacobs, Jr. Relationship between serum concentrations of persistent organic pollutants and the prevalence of metabolic syndrome among non-diabetic adults: results from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1999-2002. Diabetologia 50 (9):1841-1851, 2007

Li Y, Perera L, Coons LA, Burns KA, TylerRamsey J, Pelch KE et al. (2018). Differential in Vitro Biological Action, Coregulator Interactions, and Molecular Dynamic Analysis of BisphenolA (BPA), BPAF, and BPS Ligand–ERa Complexes. Environmental Health Perspectives 2018;126:017012.

Lodge CJ, Braback L, Lowe AJ, Dharmage SC, Olsson D, Forsberg B. Grandmaternal smoking increases asthma risk in grandchildren: A nationwide Swedish cohort. Clin Exp Allergy 2018;48:167-74.

Lutz WK. Dose-response relationship and low dose extrapolation in chemical carcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis 1990;11:1243-7.

Markey CM, Coombs MA, Sonnenschein C, Soto AM 2003 Mammalian development in a changing environment: exposure to endocrine disruptors reveals the developmental plasticity of steroid-hormone target organs. Evol Dev 5:67–75

Markey CM, Luque EH, Munoz De Toro M, Sonnenschein C, Soto AM 2001 In utero exposure to bisphenol A alters the development and tissue organization of the mouse mammary gland. Biol Reprod 65:1215–1223

Martens DS, Cox B, Janssen BG, Clemente DBP, Gasparrini A, Vanpoucke C et al. Prenatal Air Pollution and Newborns' Predisposition to Accelerated Biological Aging. JAMA Pediatr 2017;171:1160–7.

Martens DS, Nawrot TS. Air Pollution Stress and the Aging Phenotype: The Telomere Connection. Curr Environ Health Rep 2016;3:258–69.

McGregor DB, Partensky C, Wilbourn J, Rice JM. An IARC evaluation of polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and polychlorinated dibenzofurans as risk factors in human carcinogenesis. Environ Health Perspect 1998;106:755-60.

Moral R, Wang R, Russo IH, Lamartiniere CA, Pereira J, Russo J 2008 Effect of prenatal exposure to the endocrine disruptor bisphenol A on mammary gland morphology and gene expression signature. J Endocrinol 196:101–112

Murray TJ, Maffini MV, Ucci AA, Sonnenschein C, Soto AM 2007 Induction of mammary gland ductal hyperplasias and carcinomas in situ following fetal bisphenol A exposure. Reprod Toxicol 23:383–390

Neven KY, Saenen ND, Tarantini L, Janssen BG, Lefebvre W, Vanpoucke C et al. Bollati Valentina, Nawrot Tim S. Placental promotoer methylation fDNA repair genes and prenatal exposure to particulate air pollution: an ENVIRONAGE cohort study. Lancet planet health 2018;2:e174-83.

Parent AS, Franssen D, Fudvoye J, Pinson A, Bourguignon JP. Current Changes in Pubertal Timing: Revised Vision in Relation with Environmental Factors Including Endocrine Disruptors. Endocr Dev 2016;29:174-84.

Parfett CL, Desaulniers D. A Tox21 Approach to Altered Epigenetic Landscapes: Assessing Epigenetic Toxicity Pathways Leading to Altered Gene Expression and Oncogenic Transformation In Vitro. Int J Mol Sci 2017;18.

Perera FP, Vineis P. Cancer. IARC Sci Publ 2011;337-62.

Perera FP, Wang S, Vishnevetsky J, Zhang B, Cole KJ, Tang D et al. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons-aromatic DNA adducts in cord blood and behavior scores in New York city children. Environ Health Perspect 2011;119:1176–81.

Phillips DH, Hewer A, Martin CN, Garner RC, King MM. Correlation of DNA adduct levels in human lung with cigarette smoking. Nature 1988;336:790-2.

Rosofsky A, Janulewicz P, Thayer KA, McClean M, Wise LA, Calafat AM et al. Exposure to multiple chemicals in a cohort of reproductive-aged Danish women. Environ Res 2017;154:73-85.

Rothkamm K, Lobrich M. Evidence for a lack of DNA double-strand break repair in human cells exposed to very low x-ray doses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003;100:5057-62.

Routledge EJ, White R, Parker MG, Sumpter JP. Differential effects of xenoestrogens on coactivator recruitment by estrogen receptor (ER) alpha and ERbeta. J Biol Chem 2000;275:35986-93.

Safe S. Carbidopa: a selective Ah receptor modulator (SAhRM). Biochem J 2017;474:3763-5.

Safe S, McDougal A. Mechanism of action and development of selective aryl hydrocarbon receptor modulators for treatment of hormone-dependent cancers. Int J Oncol 2002;20:1123–8.

Sala S, Ampe C. An emerging link between LIM domain proteins and nuclear receptors. Cell Mol Life Sci 2018;75:1959-71.

Schulman IG. Nuclear receptors as drug targets for metabolic disease. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2010;62:1307–15.

Schwarz M, Appel KE. Carcinogenic risks of dioxin: mechanistic considerations. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 2005;43:19-34.

Shanle EK, Xu W. Endocrine disrupting chemicals targeting estrogen receptor signaling: identification and mechanisms of action. Chem Res Toxicol 2011;24 :6-19.

Sheehan DM, Willingham E, Gaylor D, Bergeron JM, Crews D. No threshold dose for estradiol-induced sex reversal of turtle embryos: how little is too much? Environ Health Perspect 1999;107:155-9.

R. Shi, Z. Liu, and T. Liu. The antagonistic effect of bisphenol A and nonylphenol on liver and kidney injury in rats. Immunopharmacol.Immunotoxicol. 43 (5):527-535, 2021.

Simonsson M, Qvarnstrom F, Nyman J, Johansson KA, Garmo H, Turesson I. Low-dose hypersensitive gammaH2AX response and infrequent apoptosis in epidermis from radiotherapy patients. Radiother Oncol 2008;88:388-97.

Skakkebaek NE, Rajpert-De Meyts E, Main KM. Testicular dysgenesis syndrome: an increasingly common developmental disorder with environmental aspects. Hum Reprod 2001;16:972–78.

Skerrett R, Malm T, Landreth G. Nuclear receptors in neurodegenerative diseases. Neurobiol Dis 2014;72:104-116.

Slaga TJ. Overvieuw of tumor promotion in animals. Environ Health Perspect 1983;50:3-14.

Vandenberg LN. Non-monotonic dose responses in studies of endocrine disrupting chemicals: bisphenol a as a case study. Dose Response 2014;12:259-76.

Vandenberg LN, Colborn T, Hayes TB, Heindel JJ, Jacobs DR Jr., Lee DH et al. Hormones and endocrinedisrupting chemicals: low-dose effects and nonmonotonic dose responses. Endocr Rev 2012;33:378-455.

L. N. Vandenberg and K. E. Pelch. Systematic Review Methodologies and Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals: Improving Evaluations of the Plastic Monomer Bisphenol A. Endocr.Metab Immune.Disord.Drug Targets., 2021.

Vandevoorde C, Franck C, Bacher K, Breysem L, Smet MH, Ernst C et al. gamma-H2AX foci as in vivo effect biomarker in children emphasize the importance to minimize x-ray doses in paediatric CT imaging. Eur Radiol 2015;25:800-11

Van Larebeke N, Koppen G, Nelen V, Schoeters G, Loon H, Albering H et al. Differences in HPRT mutant frequency among middle-aged Flemish women in association with area of residence and blood lead levels. Biomarkers 2004;9:71-84.

Van Larebeke N, Sioen I, Hond ED, Nelen V, Van de Mieroop E, Nawrot T et al. Internal exposure to organochlorine pollutants and cadmium and self-reported health status: a prospective study. Int J Hyg Environ Health 2015;218:232-45.

van Leeuwen DM, Gottschalk RW, Schoeters G, Van Larebeke N, Nelen V, Baeyens WF et al. Transcriptome Analysis in Peripheral Blood of Humans Exposed to Environmental Carcinogens; a Promising New Biomarker in Environmental Health Studies. Environ Health Perspect 2008;116:1519–25.

F. S. vom Saal and C. Hughes. An extensive new literature concerning low-dose effects of bisphenol A shows the need for a new risk assessment. Environ.Health Perspect. 113 (8):926-933, 2005.

vom Saal FS, Akingbemi BT, Belcher SM, Birnbaum LS, Crain DA, Eriksen M et al. Chapel Hill bisphenol A expert panel consensus statement: integration of mechanisms, effects in animals and potential to impact human health at current levels of exposure. Reprod Toxicol 2007;24:131-8.

Vrijens K, Winckelmans E, Tsamou M, Baeyens W, De Boever P, Jennen TM et al. Sex-Specific Associations between Particulate Matter Exposure and Gene Expression in Independent Discovery and Validation Cohorts of Middle-Aged Men and Women. Environ Health Perspect 2017;125:660-9.

Watanabe H, Suzuki A, Kobayashi M, Lubahn DB, Handa H, Iguchi T. Similarities and differences in uterine gene expression patterns caused by treatment with physiological and non-physiological estrogens. J Mol Endocrinol 2003;31:487-97.

Welshons WV, Thayer KA, Judy BM, Taylor JA, Curran EM, vom Saal FS 2003 Large effects from small exposures: I. Mechanisms for endocrine-disrupting chemicals with estrogenic activity. Environ Health Perspect 111:994–1006

Woodruff TJ, Zota AR, Schwartz JM. Environmental chemicals in pregnant women in the United States: NHANES 2003-2004. Environ Health Perspect 2011;119:878-85.

Yang L, West CM. Hypoxia gene expression signatures as predictive biomarkers for personalising radiotherapy. Br J Radiol 2018:20180036.

Zhang, C., Wu, J., Chen, Q., Tan, H., Huang, F., Guo, J., ... & Shi, W. (2022). Allosteric binding on nuclear receptors: Insights on screening of non-competitive endocrine-disrupting chemicals. Environment international, 159, 107009.

MEMBERS OF THE SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE

The members are :

Willy Baeyens; Lieve Geerts; Lode Godderis; Birgit Mertens; Guy Schroyen; Nicolas Van Larebeke; Jeroen Vanoirbeek; Phillippe Maesen; Griet Jacobs; Frank Van Belleghem.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No member has declared any conflict of interest.

RAPPORTEUR(S)

The Scientific Committee REACH thanks the rapporteurs Lode Godderis, Nicolas Van Larebeke and Willy Baeyens.

WCSR Advice 2023-19 |

ADOPTION OF THE ADVICE

The Scientific Committee REACH advice was adopted by consensus on 16/05/2023.

LEGAL FRAMEWORK OF THE ADVICE

Cooperation agreement of 17 October 2011 between the Federal State, the Flemish Region, the Walloon Region and the Brussels Capital Region concerning the Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH)

Ministerial decree of 8 July 2014 appointing the members of the Scientific Committee REACH established under Article 3, § 3 of the Cooperation Agreement of 17 October 2011 between the Federal State, the Flemish Region, the Walloon Region and the Brussels Capital Region concerning the Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and restriction of Chemicals (REACH)

Ministerial decree of 2 June 2016 on dismissal and appointment of members of the Scientific Committee REACH

Ministerial decree of 5 October 2016 on appointment of members of the Scientific Committee REACH

DISCLAIMER

The Scientific Committee REACH reserves, at any time, the right to change this advice when new information and data become available after the publication of this version.

President

PROF. DR. LODE GODDERIS

c/o

Federal Public Service Health, Food chain safety and Environment

Risk Management of Chemicals Unit

Galileelaan 5/2 1210 Brussels